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 SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1
TUESDAY, JUNE 23, 2009

--- Upon commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Ms. Cochrane, where are we?


MS. COCHRANE:  Mr. Chair, I believe we are just going to start with panel 2 today.  I don't know if there is -- Ms. Wong has any direct examination or we are going right into cross-examinations.


MS. WONG:  Sorry, Mr. Chair.  I do have a brief examination-in-chief.  Perhaps the witnesses could be sworn.


MR. KAISER:  Yes, thank you.


MS. SPOEL:  Could you come forward, please?

Union Gas Limited - Panel 2


Bev Wilton, Sworn 


Bill Wachsmuth, Sworn


Gerard Mallette, Sworn


Karen Hockin, Sworn

EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MS. WONG:


MS. WONG:  Mr. Chairman, if you have the bios that I handed up yesterday, I was just about to introduce the witnesses.  It might be helpful if you had that handy.


Starting on the far right is Mr. Bev Wilton.  He is the manager of Union's land department and has been employed with Union since 1991.  He has a diploma from Fanshawe College and has been designated as a senior member of the International Right-of-way Association.  He will be addressing the land matters for the current St. Clair landowners.


Sitting beside him is Mr. Bill Wachsmuth.  He is a senior administrator with the regulatory projects, and has been with Union since 1990.  He has a bachelor of science, a major in forestry, from the University of New Brunswick, and is affiliated with the Ontario Professional Foresters Association.  Bill's area of responsibility will be with respect to regulatory issues.


Sitting beside him is Mr. Gerry Mallette.  He is the manager of Union -- sorry, manager projects, and has been with Union since 1990.  He has a bachelor of applied science in civil engineering and is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  Mr. Mallette's area of responsibility will be regarding the current operation of the St. Clair Line.


The fourth witness is Ms. Karen Hockin, who is manager system planning, and has been employed by Union since 1986.  She has a bachelor of engineering science with an emphasis on chemical, and is a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario.  She will be speaking to Union's ability to continue to ensure service to customers as a result of the sale of the St. Clair Line.


What I propose to do, Mr. Chairman, with your permission, is I will be putting, I believe, five documents to the witnesses.  You should have sets of them up there.  I thought I would just mark them all as exhibits right now to make it a little bit easier. 


The first one is something called "The Land Matters Consultation Initiative".  So if we could have an exhibit number for that document, please?


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be Exhibit 2.1.  Panel members, you should have a little package each in front of you.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.1:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "THE LAND MATTERS CONSULTATION INITIATIVE."

MS. WONG:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  Sorry, K2.1.  


MS. WONG:  The next document is Ontario Regulation 210 under the Technical Standards and Safety Act.  That will be K2.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.2:  ONTARIO REGULATION 210 UNDER THE TECHNICAL STANDARDS AND SAFETY ACT.

MS. WONG:  The third document in the top line says "Fuels Safety Program Oil and Gas Pipeline Systems".  So K2.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.3:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "FUELS SAFETY PROGRAM OIL AND GAS PIPELINE SYSTEMS".

MS. WONG:  The fourth document is the National Energy Board Pipeline Costing Regulations, K2.4.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.4:  THE NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD PIPELINE COSTING REGULATIONS.

MS. WONG:  The fifth one is onshore pipeline regulations under National Energy Board Act, K2.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.5:  ONSHORE PIPELINE REGULATIONS UNDER NATIONAL ENERGY BOARD ACT.

MS. WONG:  And while we are doing exhibits, I don't believe we have actually marked as an exhibit the responses that were received from the GAPLO-CAEPLA interrogatories, the ones Union put forward.  So if we could mark those, as well, as 2.6, for the GAPLO-CAEPLA answers to interrogatories.

EXHIBIT NO. K2.6:  UNION RESPONSES TO GAPLO-CAEPLA INTERROGATORIES.

MS. WONG:  If we're all set on the exhibits, what I propose to do is a very brief examination-in-chief.  I am going to start with Ms. Hockin, just to do some clarification of one point in the evidence.


Ms. Hockin, can you turn up Union's prefiled evidence in the OEB matter, paragraph 33, please?


In that paragraph, it says:

"The intended capacity of the Gateway Line will be approximately 385,000 gigaJoules per day."  


I believe a slightly different number was stated in the Dawn Gateway-NEB evidence, and I don't believe the panel needs to turn it up, but you may want to make a note it is paragraph 8 of the Dawn Gateway-NEB evidence -- refers to it being 380,000 gigaJoules per day.


Could you explain for us why there is that slight difference between the 380 and the 385 gigaJoules per day?


MS. HOCKIN:  Yes.  The difference is heat values used for conversions.  In this filing, we use the Union Gas heat value of 37.79, and in the NEB filing a DTE-supplied heat value of 37.25 was used in converting volumes to energy units.


MS. WONG:  And when you used those heat value numbers, were they applied to the same volume number in both cases?


MS. HOCKIN:  Yes.


MS. WONG:  What's that volume number?


MS. HOCKIN:  360 million cubic feet per day.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.

Mr. Wachsmuth, if you could turn up the GAPLO response to interrogatories that is -- we just marked that as Exhibit K1.6 -- 2.6, excuse me.


In Interrogatory No. 1 to GAPLO, there was a reference to the NEB's draft final LMCI report.  So that is the Land Matters Consultation Initiative report, dated February 2, 2009.  Do you know if that draft report has now been issued in final form by the NEB?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, it has.


MS. WONG:  Does the Panel need a moment to find the document, or are we okay?


MR. KAISER:  We are fine.


MS. WONG:  The final report has now been issued.  Is that the document we marked this morning as Exhibit K2.1?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, it is.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.

Mr. Mallette, in GAPLO's evidence, they refer to Section 112 of the NEB Act, which regulates activities near federally-regulated pipelines.  Does Ontario have any regulations that govern activities near gas pipelines?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  Regulation 210 under the Technical Standards and Safety Act.


MS. WONG:  Is that the document we marked this morning as Exhibit K2.2?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it is.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  And are there any sections in Regulation 210 that apply to activities near pipelines?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, there are a couple of sections.


MS. WONG:  Just before we go on, did I overlook to give you a copy of the exhibits?  Do you need a copy?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MS. WONG:  Excuse me, can I just run down and get a set?  Sorry, Mr. Chairman.


[Passes documents to witness panel.]


MS. WONG:  I asked you if there were any regulations in 210 that dealt with activities near pipelines, and you had mentioned Sections 9 and 10.


Could we just have a look at Sections 9 and 10 of Exhibit 2.2?  Section 9 says:   

"No person shall dig, bore, trench, grade, excavate or break ground with mechanical equipment or explosives without first ascertaining from the licence holder the location of any pipeline that may be interfered with.  The licence holder shall provide as accurate information as possible on the location of any pipeline within a reasonable time in all of the circumstances."


Is that what's generally known as the "call before you dig" regulation?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  In Ontario, "call before you dig" would characterize the way to satisfy those requirements.  

     MS. WONG:  Okay.  Regulation 10 says:

"No person shall interfere with, or damage any pipeline without authority to do so."

     Does that apply to landowners who have Ontario-regulated pipelines on their property?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it does. 

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, the next document we marked is K2.3, which is something called:  Oil and Gas Pipeline Systems Code Adoption Documents.  Do you have that document there?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I do.  

     MS. WONG:  You see in the subject line it says "Amendments to the Oil and Gas Pipeline Systems Code Adoption Document, adopted by reference as part of Ontario Regulation 210".

Could you explain what this document is?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  This is a document that is issued by the Technical Standard and Safety Authority or the TSSA.  

     The contents of the document is adopted as part of Ontario Regulation 210 which governs the gas pipelines in Ontario. 

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now if you could have a look at 

paragraph 2, (1) at the top of the second page, and I will just read it for you.  It says:

"The standards issued by the Canadian Standards Association entitled Oil and Gas Pipelines Systems Z-662-07 and CSA Z-276-07, liquefied natural gas, production storage and handling, and the standards specification codes and publications set out therein, as reference publications insofar as they apply to the said standards, are adopted as part of this document with the following changes."

     What do you understand this paragraph to mean?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, the CSA standards that are listed there, including Z-662, are adopted as part of the regulations, except with some changes as set out in the rest of the document.

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now let's just have a look at some of those changes. 

     Under the general requirements on that page, if you look at Section 7 and it says: 

"Clause 10.6 –-"

And that's 10.6 of the CSA Z-662:

"-- is amended by adding the following clause: 10.6.5 right-of-way encroachment.  It shall be prohibited to install patios or concrete slabs on the pipeline right-of-way or fences along the pipeline right-of-way unless written permission is first obtained from the operating company."

     Is it your understanding that that regulation applies to landowners who have Ontario-regulated pipes on their property? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's my understanding. 

     MS. WONG:  Turn the page to 10.6.5.2: 

"It shall be prohibited to erect buildings including garden sheds or to install swimming pools on the pipeline right-of-way, storage of flammable material and dumping of solid or liquid spoil refuse waste or effluent shall also be forbidden."

     Does that also apply to landowners with Ontario-regulated pipes? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it does. 

     MS. WONG:  The next one, we will skip .53 and go to the next one, 10.6.54:

"No person shall operate a vehicle or mobile equipment except for farm machinery and personal recreation vehicles across or along a pipeline right-of-way unless written permission is first obtained from the operating company or the vehicle or mobile equipment is operated within the travelled portion of a highway or public road."

     Does that also apply to landowners with Ontario-regulated pipes?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it does. 

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  

     Now, in their evidence, GAPLO has made mention of the control zone requirements under the NEB Act that apply to NEB-regulated pipelines. 

     Are you generally familiar with those requirements?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I am.  

     MS. WONG:  And could you have a look at Exhibit K2.4, which is the National Energy Board Pipeline Crossing Regulations document?

     Can you identify that what document is?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  These are regulations made under the National Energy Board Act that detail requirements for notice, approvals and methods of excavation and construction near pipelines.  

     These will eventually become known as the damage prevention regulation because the purpose is to enhance pipeline safety.  

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Could you have a look at Section 9 on page 26.  It is at the bottom of page 26.  It says:

"When a pipeline company receives a request from a facility owner or an excavator to locate its pipes, the pipeline company may designate an area situated in the vicinity of the proposed facility or excavation which may extend beyond 30 metres from the pipeline as a restricted area in which no excavation may be performed until the pipes are located and marked by the pipeline company, or the expiry of three working days after the date of the request, whichever occurs first unless the pipeline company and the facility owner or excavator have agreed on an extension of time for the pipeline company to locate and mark the pipes."

     Mr. Mallette, can you tell us in what circumstances would you foresee a pipeline company seeking to designate an area beyond the 30 metre control zone under this regulation?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, those situations would be fairly rare.  It would entail something that would be a major construction project on the property.  It could involve something, for instance, like a quarry or a large pit, and would be such that it could possibly be deep enough to destabilize the right-of-way and the ground in which the pipeline sits.

     There could also be blasting involved, which would cause ground vibrations and would be a danger to the pipeline.  

     So although it is something that would be unlikely to happen in the area of the -- that we are looking at for this pipeline, it is -- it is feasible that that could occur.

     MS. WONG:  If a similar situation was to occur near an 

Ontario-regulated pipeline like a Union pipeline and somebody wanted to do blasting or do a major excavation like a quarry, are there any comparable regulations in Ontario?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  We would go back to the Regulation 210 that we read from earlier, and it would go back to paragraphs 9 and 10 in that regulation.  

     MS. WONG:  How would 9 and 10 apply in a situation like that?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, first of all, the landowner would be responsible to get -- locate and have the pipeline company come out and take a look at the type of proposal that was underway.

Once they did that, they could ascertain whether or not there was a chance of damaging the pipeline.  

     If you read item number 10, again, it says:

"No person shall interfere or damage without authority to do so."

     So it really is up to the landowner to decide whether or not they want to act responsibly and to take the pipeline company's advice.  

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Now, can you briefly compare for the Board how Ontario regulates activities near pipelines under TSSA Regulation 210 with the manner in which the NEB regulates pipelines near federally-regulated pipelines?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  The safe operation of pipelines is the ultimate goal of both the federal and provincial systems.  

     So both the Federal and Provincial Governments have regulations in place that prevent or try to prevent damage to pipelines.

So while the regulations are different, the intent of both documents is the same, and that is to ensure the safe operation of pipelines.

     The TSSA regulations in Ontario require the landowners, as we just looked at, to call the pipeline company to get the pipeline locates, and before they dig, and as a general rule against damaging the pipelines.  

     That general rule puts the responsibility on the landowners to ascertain whether or not their activities will actually cause damage to the pipelines.  

     If a landowner makes the wrong decision and proceeds with work that could cause damage and does cause damage, they could be guilty of an offence under the TSSA Act.  

On the other hand, the federal regulations move the responsibility for deciding what activities are safe more to the pipeline companies, and they require the landowners to get consent from the pipeline company before they do certain things.

     Under the federal regulations, landowners may need to call the pipeline companies more often than under the provincial regulations, but to address this situation, federal-regulated companies are developing blanket crossing approvals or agreements to minimize the number of times a landowner has to make a phone call.  At the same time, it would ensure the safe operation of the pipeline.  

     Dawn Gateway has -- I know that Dawn Gateway has already started some discussions with landowners to develop a blanket approval.  

     MS. WONG:  Thank you.  

Mr. Wachsmuth, could you tell us whether or not this question of the blanket crossing agreements -- do you know whether or not the NEB has expressed any views on the appropriateness of using blanket crossing agreements?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  In the document that was filed earlier today, Exhibit K2.1 -- the "Land Matters Consultation Initiative" -- in its final report, both in Section 4 and in action step 1.2, the issue of blanket crossing agreements is dealt with.


If you turn --


MS. WONG:  Sorry, go ahead.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  If you turn that document up, you can -- in particular, page 9, it talks about the action steps that the NEB is planning to take relative to blanket agreements, where they're encouraging companies to form the agreements, and again, they're looking to have a report by companies by January 2010, at which time the Board may take additional action if they deem it necessary.


MS. WONG:  Just looking on that page 9 in action step 1.2, under the "Implementation Approach", could you tell us -- we have been talking about blanket crossing agreements, but just for the benefit of the Board, what exactly is a blanket crossing agreement?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  A blanket crossing agreement would be an agreement that could be negotiated, or could just come out from the company, which would allow certain activities without additional permission, both on the easement and within the 30-metre zone adjacent to NEB pipes.  


This could deal with issues such as excavation issues, what depths could be allowed without additional approvals.  It could also tell when you have to go to the -- when they need to go to the pipeline company in order to get the additional approvals, but it would deal with excavation depths.  It would deal with allowable activities.


MS. WONG:  When we're talking about excavation depth, excavation to me, as a layperson, means digging a big hole.  But for a farmer, can you tell us why excavation would be so important?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Well, I mean, when we talk about excavation, it could be the depth that a person could plough to.  It could be putting in fence posts.  It could be just digging tile in.  So it could be excavation happened a number of times with landowners, particularly farmers.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.


Mr. Mallette, I would like to move now to the area of pipeline abandonment.  GAPLO has filed some evidence indicating that they have a concern about how the NEB regulates pipeline abandonment.


The document we marked earlier as Exhibit K2.5, "The Onshore Pipeline Regulations", can you tell us what this document is?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  These are regulations that are issued under the National Energy Board Act that apply to National Energy Board-regulated pipelines that are to be constructed, operated and abandoned.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Could you turn up paragraph 4, please, of that document?  It is on page 4.  It says:

"When a company designs, constructs, operates or abandons a pipeline or contracts for the provision of those services, the company shall ensure that the pipeline is designed, constructed, operated or abandoned in accordance with the applicable provisions of..."


If you skip down to point (d):

"CSA Z662, if the pipeline transports liquid or gaseous hydrocarbons."


Do you agree that under these NEB regulations, the companies must comply with CSA Z662?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I agree.


MS. WONG:  Is that the same CSA Z662 standard that applies to pipelines in Ontario under the TSSA regulations?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  It is the same CSA standard.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  Does CSA Z662 have any standards relating to pipeline abandonment?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it does.


There are standards in -- clauses within the standard that require the pipeline to be properly taken out of service and for environmental and safety factors to be considered.


MS. WONG:  Apart from the CSA standards, does Ontario have any other standards or regulations that apply to pipeline abandonment?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  Building upon the CSA requirements, the TSSA recommends that OEB-regulated companies follow its pipeline abandonment checklist, although there is no legislated requirement to do so.


There is no regulatory application or approval needed, and the TSSA Code Adoption document, however, does provide an opportunity for the TSSA to ask for details if there is a reason to believe the abandonment may cause a hazard or adverse effect.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  What about the OEB?  Does the OEB regulate pipeline abandonment?


MR. MALLETTE:  No, it doesn't.


MS. WONG:  And does the NEB have any regulations or deal with pipeline abandonment?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, yes.  The National Energy Board Act requires that pipeline companies obtain regulatory approval before proceeding with an abandonment of a pipeline.  The onshore pipeline regulations provide some guidance on the content of the application, and also I would suggest that Environmental Assessment under the Canadian Environment Assessment Act may be required in some instances.


A site-specific abandonment plan must be in place, including land issues and stakeholder consultation, among other recommended considerations.


After approval is received from the NEB, of course the company must comply with any conditions of approval that the National Energy Board imposes.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.

That is my examination-in-chief, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Mr. Thompson.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.


Panel, my name is Peter Thompson.  I represent the Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  I have questions that relate to documents that form part of the response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 14.


Mr. Wachsmuth, you are shown as having responsibility for that interrogatory response.  Am I right so far?


MS. WONG:  Mr. Thompson, could you just speak up a little louder?  I think the witnesses have a hard time hearing because of the vent, and I know I am having a hard time hearing.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.


MS. WONG:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  I was referring to interrogatory -- GAPLO Interrogatory No. 14, and I understand, Mr. Wachsmuth, that you are responsible for parts A and B of that interrogatory.  I get that from Exhibit K1.3.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I can try to provide answers to you, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

Mr. Wilton, you are responsible for part C of that response?


MR. WILTON:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  I also have some questions arising out of the interrogatory response to FRPO No. 1, and, Mr. Wachsmuth, you are shown as having responsibility for that interrogatory response.  Am I right so far?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I will try to answer your questions, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, in the response to GAPLO No. 14, and question B was:  

"Provide copies of approvals issued by or through the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, the Michigan Public Service Commission and the National Energy Board that are referenced in the OEB's condition of approval at appendix C to the order."


The order is referred to in the previous paragraph.


If we go to the response, we see, starting at page 29, the opinion and order of the Michigan Public Service Commission.

If we go over a little further, we see, starting at page 50 -- sorry, page 47, the NEB's decision on the St. Clair crossing line; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in addition to that, of course, we have the OEB decision around the same time dealing with the St. Clair Line.  All of these decisions were made at or around the same time; is that fair?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir, but it was before I started working for Union.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, do you have some familiarity with these documents that you have -- I assumed you did, because they were attached to your interrogatory response.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I have read most of them, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's just to put this into some physical context and talk about the three pieces that these applications concern.  


We had some discussion about this yesterday.  Were you listening in to the discussion yesterday with panel 1?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I was.


MR. THOMPSON:  So we know there is the Belle River Mills piece, which is 4.7 kilometres on the US side.  We know there is the St. Clair crossing piece, about 0.8 kilometres, and then there is the St. Clair Line, which is about 11.7 kilometres; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  These three pieces were the subject matter of these regulatory proceedings back in 1988.

     Can you help me with just putting these pieces into the context of the two utilities that own them or owned them then, still own them now, and their facilities on each side of the river?

     Take MichCon, for example.  What's upstream of the Belle River Mills line that MichCon owns, at a high level?

Can anybody help me?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't believe anybody on this panel can help you, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is MichCon a large integrated transmission, distribution and storage company?

Can anybody help me with that?  

Well, I guess I will find it on the net.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't believe anyone on this panel can help you, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  You have been with Union Gas for -- 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I know MichCon is a big utility in Michigan, but specifically what they have I can't answer, sir.

MR. THOMPSON:  It is a big utility in Michigan.  Do you know how big it is? 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Does anybody know how big it is?  How many kilometres of pipe they have, for example?

All right.  You guys don't look across the river, obviously.

     Well, what about Union?  Can you help me with Union?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  We can try, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, the parts of Union that were the subject matter -- Union Gas Limited -- of this application was 11.7 kilometres of the St. Clair Line.  The St. Clair crossing was a little piece of the St. Clair Pipeline Company.

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That was the subject of EBLO 226, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Union, we understand, is a large transmission, distribution and storage company in Ontario.  Do you know that?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I would agree with that, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  How many kilometres of pipe do they have, roughly, big picture?

Nobody knows that?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I have to look to the facilities planning person, sorry. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it in the annual report somewhere?  I mean people pound their chest with these kinds of numbers.  

     MS. HOCKIN:  I don't know the number offhand. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Geez, you guys are heads down, man.  

     MR. KAISER:  Probably in the annual report. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Probably is.  Anyway, can we agree that these little pieces, 4.7 kilometres, 0.8 and 11.7, are minuscule parts of two large enterprises?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So back in 1988, the owners of these pieces had an idea to construct the pieces and put them into operation.  And those concepts came to be before these tribunals in regulatory proceedings.  

     So if we look at, for example, under Interrogatory No. 14, GAPLO interrogatory response -- Union's interrogatory response to GAPLO No. 14, at page 29, we see this is the opinion of the Michigan Public Service Commission about the Belle River Mills part of the project.  Can you confirm that, sir?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The first part talks about Michigan 

Consolidated filing its application requesting authority to construct 24-inch pipeline, and then it is called the Belle River St. Clair Pipeline, approximately three miles in length.  It says:

"This pipeline would begin at MichCon's Belle River Mills storage facility and extend east under the St. Clair River to the international border.  At that point, the Canadian segments of the total pipeline project would begin and ultimately terminate at Union Gas Limited's Union-Bickford compressor station in Sombra township."

Do you see that?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I do. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So that suggests this whole thing was conceived and constructed as a three-segment piece from Belle River to Bickford.  Is that your understanding?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.  

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Just, then, to relate that back to some discussion that Mr. Vogel had with the witnesses yesterday, if you could just bear with me and jump back to the response to GAPLO No. 2, these are these agreements that were put in place to reflect this concept of these three pieces going from Belle River to Bickford.  

     If you look, for example, at GAPLO No. 2, attachment 1, page 1, and look at recital A, you will see that:

"The parties desire to build a –-"

So it is a three-party agreement between MichCon,

Union Gas Limited and St. Clair Pipeline:

"The parties desire to build a natural gas pipeline from St. Clair County, Michigan to Lambton County, Ontario to be known as the Belle River-Bickford Pipeline."

     Right?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's what it says, sir. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that what it was called within Union Gas Limited?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I mean, we knew it as the St. Clair River crossing and the St. Clair-to-Bickford Pipeline, sir, or at least at the operation and engineering side of things. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, the construction agreement talks about the Belle River-Bickford Pipeline, and then, as Mr. Vogel pointed out at page 3 of this, in article 6, the parties agreed to coordinate their design and engineering efforts so that when completed, the pipeline would be capable of being operated as a single system.

     He went on and referred to other passages in other agreements to show that in its conception and construction, this was a pipeline extending from Belle River to Bickford.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that was what Mr. Isherwood talked to yesterday and he talked about it, but it was owned by three different companies. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So back, then, to the Michigan Public Service Commission proceeding, this now is in the interrogatory response for which you are responsible.  

     You will see that one of the noisy intervenors in that proceeding was TransCanada Pipelines.  They wanted to get intervenor status first, and that is discussed at page 30 of this interrogatory response.  

     The initial decision, if you go to page 32, you will see that TransCanada was denied the right to intervene in that proceeding.  Is that your understanding of it?  You will see the formal proclamation to that effect at page 36, in paragraph A.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that is what the document says, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then if you go on to page 38, 

TransCanada applied for a rehearing.  Do you see that?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's what it says at the bottom of the page, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And over at page 41, you will see where 

TransCanada raised the subject matter of jurisdiction.  

TransCanada was contending that this combination of little pieces of two systems on either side of the border gave rise to exclusive Federal Government jurisdiction over the pipelines.

You see that in the last full paragraph, about the middle of the page.  Do you see that?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that is what it says, sir.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then the Board goes on to deal with that and says:  No, that the state has jurisdiction over this piece of the pipeline.  

Can you confirm that for me?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Could you give me the exact reference, sir?  I'm sorry.  I have read this document, but I am not a lawyer or familiar with it, in that detail.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, there are four grounds for it, and it starts at page 43, where it says: 

"The Commission agrees with MichCon and staff that we possess subject matter jurisdiction over construction of the Belle River St. Clair Pipeline.  Our conclusion is supported by the following four factors..."

     Then it goes on and discusses each of those four factors.


It concludes at page 48 in subparagraph (b):

"Neither the NGA -–"


That's the Natural Gas Act:

"-- federal case law nor the commerce clause of the US Constitution pre-empts the exercise of our jurisdiction in this case."


So I read that as saying the state has jurisdiction.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, what page are you on again, sir?


MR. THOMPSON:  That last paragraph I read was at page 46, subparagraph (b).


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's what the document says, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then we go to the next, which is the NEB decision concerning St. Clair Pipelines.  If you look at that decision, you will see that TransCanada had a competing application before the NEB at that time.


So if you look at page 47, it is St. Clair Pipelines Limited and TransCanada Pipelines Limited, and the Board then starts at page 55 of this attachment to discuss the application of St. Clair.  Then on the next page, it discusses the application of TransCanada.


Do you see that?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in this discussion of the case before the NEB, if you look at the top of page 56, page 2 of the decision, the NEB noted that:

"To connect the St. Clair pipeline to the existing Union system, Union had applied to the Ontario Energy Board for approval to construct and operate the 11.73-km pipeline extension known as the St. Clair-Bickford Line.  MichCon also indicated its intention to construct the 4.75 kilometres of pipeline to connect its system to the Belle River Mills compressor station at the St. Clair Pipeline."


So this is all part of the three-piece project, right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  If you go over to page 57 of the attachment, you will see the Board noted:

"The pipeline proposed by Union to connect its system to St. Clair's proposed facilities would terminate at Union's Bickford Storage Pool compressor station."


Just stopping there, that is the St. Clair Line, right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, sir, could you repeat that?  I am having trouble hearing you.


MR. THOMPSON:  The first sentence reads:

"The pipeline proposed by Union to connect its system to St. Clair's proposed facilities would terminate at Union's Bickford Storage Pool compressor station."


I said -- stopping there -- that is the St. Clair Line?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, it is, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then it says:  

"Union did not apply to the Board --"


That's referring to the National Energy Board:

"-- for authorization to construct the proposed connecting facilities known as the St. Clair-Bickford Line, having applied instead to the OEB as noted above.  However, the issue of jurisdiction over the St. Clair-Bickford Line was raised by TransCanada in a letter dated June 28th, 1988."


Do you see that?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I do, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Then the NEB goes on:

"During the OEB hearing of Union's application to construct the St. Clair-Bickford Line, TransCanada brought a motion for an order declaring that the subject matter of Union's application was not within the jurisdiction of the OEB, but rather was within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Board.  The OEB heard evidence and argument on TransCanada's motion.  The motion was dismissed pursuant to the OEB decisions with reasons issued September 1988 in respect of Union's application."


Stopping there, is that decision in the record?  I couldn't find it in these documents you provided.  That's the OEB's decision rejecting TransCanada's motion that the St. Clair component of this three-piece pipeline concept was within federal jurisdiction?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, I believe the document you are looking for is the reasons for decision in the EBLO 226 proceeding, and I believe that GAPLO did file that as part of their evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that is dated September 2, 1988?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Actually, the reasons for decision that I have are dated September 1st, 1988, but I believe it is the same document.


MR. THOMPSON:  1988?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  '88, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, I will check that.  If it is not the Board's decision dismissing this motion, could I have an undertaking from Union to file it?


MS. WONG:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking --


MS. WONG:  I, along with Mr. Wachsmuth, do believe this exists.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay, that's fine.  The NEB goes on. saying, "By letter dated" -- just stopping there, we have an OEB decision confirming the jurisdiction over the St. Clair Line component of this Belle River-Bickford Pipeline?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, sir, could you repeat that?


MR. THOMPSON:  We have an OEB decision confirming provincial jurisdiction over the St. Clair Line component of this Belle River-Bickford Pipeline?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  EBLO 226 decision did approve the St. Clair to Bickford Pipeline, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Vogel tells me that what you said is in his evidence isn't in his evidence, if I am understanding him correctly.

Could I have undertaking to file that decision we're talking about?


MS. WONG:  Yes.  We will provide EBLO 226.


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking J2.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.1:  TO PROVIDE EBLO 226 DECISION.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the NEB decision goes on and says this:

"By letter dated September 13, 1988, TransCanada advised the Board that..."

The NEB:

"... that it intended to seek leak leave to appeal the decision of the OEB in respect of the question of jurisdiction over the St. Clair-Bickford Line to the Ontario Divisional Court.  As a result of this development, the Board, in a telex to parties of record dated September 15, 1988, questioned whether it was appropriate for it to proceed to hear and decide the question of jurisdiction over the St. Clair-Bickford Line, in view of the fact that this question could shortly be sub judice."


 My question of you, sir, is:  Do you know if the TransCanada's appeal ever proceeded?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir, I don't know that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Does Union counsel know that?


MS. WONG:  I do know that, Mr. Thompson.  No, it did not proceed.  There was no Divisional Court decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So the OEB decision stands and it has stood the test of time for more than 20 years, right, on jurisdiction?


MS. WONG:  On jurisdiction on the line, as it was based at the time.

As was made clear yesterday, Union's position and Dawn Gateway's position is that the Dawn Gateway proposal is a much different proposal, and that proposal would be a federal undertaking.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let's then move on --


MR. VOGEL:  If I could just be of assistance to the Board, Mr. Chairman, my understanding is that the application for leave to appeal by TransCanada to the Ontario Divisional Court was dismissed.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  Thank you, Mr. Vogel.  I wasn't aware of that, but I appreciate that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, let me move on, if I might, just to the -- I am trying to understand the way the existing facilities, as they were conceived and constructed, do operate.


So on that question, if you go to page 55 of GAPLO No. 14, and you will see at the bottom about the custody transfer metering of the St. Clair pipeline.  


 It says:

"The custody transfer metering for the St. Clair pipeline would be located at MichCon's Belle River Mills compressor station.  Pursuant to the tri-party agreement, St. Clair and Union would have access to all measurement information.  Union proposed to install a check metering facility on its proposed St. Clair-Bickford Line approximately 5 kilometres from the St. Clair pipeline."

Is that the way the facilities were built?

MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry.  Check measurement, it does occur at the St. Clair –-

MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, I can't hear you.

MS. HOCKIN:  Check measurement does occur at the St. Clair Line station.

MR. THOMPSON:  So, is custody transferred metering located on MichCon's Belle River compressor system?  Yes or no?

MS. HOCKIN:  I believe so.

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And if you -- so I am just interested in trying to understand.  If a shipper on this line, the way it was conceived and built, wants to move its gas from Belle River to Bickford and on to Dawn, who did the shipper call to nominate?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, if it was relative to commercial issues, there is nobody on this panel that can answer that.

Unfortunately, Mr. Isherwood would have been the person to do that, to answer those questions on how the shippers deal with that.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I misunderstood.  I thought this was the technical panel.

MR. WACHSMUTH:  But relative to commercial issues with shippers dealing with that, that would be Mr. Isherwood.

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me just ask you this, if you can help me.  In the material at GAPLO No. 2 at page 38 -- and Mr. Vogel referred to this yesterday -- there was a document called the "Operating Agreement, Belle River-Bickford Pipeline".

If you go in to page 40, there is flow and pressure provisions:

"MichCon shall control the flow and pressure of gas moving from the US to Canada.  Union shall control the flow of pressure of gas moving from Canada to the US."

And that they will operate their pipeline segments in a certain way to maintain minimum pressure at the international border.

Is that the way it works?  Is that technical?  Or is that commercial?

MS. HOCKIN:  Union does control the Canadian side, like the St. Clair operation, currently.

MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the way it will work if you get your Dawn Gateway proposal approved?  Gas can flow back either way under Dawn Gateway, as I understand it.

MS. HOCKIN:  Dawn Gateway would control that.  I believe DTE would control that under the Dawn Gateway proposal.

MR. THOMPSON:  Under flow and pressure, each side controlled their own, under this deal.

MS. HOCKIN:  Under the current, but under the Dawn Gateway proposal, DTE would control that.

MR. THOMPSON:  How are they going to control Union's pressure?

MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry, they would be controlling at Belle River Mills.

MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  All right.

Now, if you go to paragraph 5.2, it says:   

"Union shall have the responsibility of scheduling gas entering the pipeline."

So this sounds to me like the go-to person under this configuration was Union.  Is that the way it worked?

MS. HOCKIN:  I am not familiar with -- I believe things would be contracted separately with Union for the St. Clair portion.

MR. THOMPSON:  It's talking about entering the pipeline, which is the Belle River-Bickford Pipeline, as I understand it.

Do you folks have any -- can you help me with the way this system works from the time it was constructed up until today, in terms of a shipper wants to nominate something?

Does he go to DTE today?  Or does he go to Union today?  Both today?  Who knows?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. HOCKIN:  I don't think we can help you with how people contract with the two companies currently.  That would have been Mr. Isherwood's panel.

MR. KAISER:  Can you help us on this?  I thought yesterday we heard that no one company was selling services on the entire line; that DTE was selling, it seemed like, a service on its part, and Union was selling service on its part.

MS. WONG:  That is certainly my understanding, sir.  If you want, we can confirm that by undertaking, but my understanding is DTE, today, sells service on the DTE portion.  Union Gas sells service on the St. Clair Line portion.

MR. KAISER:  Part of the magic of this new deal was that DTE was going to handle all transactions in the future?

MS. WONG:  The way the new deal is structured is the Dawn Gateway Pipeline will be a separate pipeline, selling service along the entire pipeline from Belle River Mills to Dawn.  The actual physical operation of the pipeline, who is going to nominate and things like that, will be taken care of by DTE in Michigan.  But it would be a Dawn Gateway pipeline.

MR. THOMPSON:  My understanding from the evidence is that under the proposed Dawn Gateway, there is still going to be two contracts, one for the American side and one for the Canadian side.

So to that extent, it is the same.  My understanding is that under the current situation under this deal, one party had the responsibility of handling the physical flows.  But I am trying to find out if that is correct, or not correct.

MS. WONG:  Well, I don't think this panel can help you.  So if there is a specific question, maybe we can answer it by way of undertaking.

What the Chairman's recollection of the evidence is from yesterday is mine as well, that there are -- currently now, it is being controlled by two different parties.

MR. KAISER:  When you say "physical flows" do you mean something different from marketing?  Selling the service?

MR. THOMPSON:  It is not the contracting.  It is actually the actual nomination.

If you want gas to be shipped under this C1 service, I think it is, with Union, which has to come down that Belle River Line, do you make one nomination that gets transposed by Union to its Belle River co-partner under the initial deal?  Or do you actually have to nominate to MichCon and nominate to Union?

I don't think you do.

MS. WONG:  We will do that by undertaking, Mr. Thompson.  So you are interested in the nominations, to whom do you nominate?

MR. THOMPSON:  To whom do you nominate, and is the physical flow controlled -- as set out in article 5.2 of the Operating Agreement:

"Union shall have the responsibility of scheduling gas entering the pipeline."

And the pipeline is defined as the Belle River-Bickford Pipeline in paragraph A.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I was just looking at paragraph 4 of this agreement, where it is pretty clear that MichCon will control the flow up to the border, and Union after.

MR. THOMPSON:  No.  I read that MichCon flows it US to 

Canada.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Union flows it going the other way.  I don't think it is -- the border stops.  Somebody picks it up.  It is different directions they're talking about there.

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I see.

MS. WONG:  So we need an undertaking number for that, Ms. Cochrane.

MS. COCHRANE:  Yes, it will be J2.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.2:  TO ADVISE HOW MANY NOMINATIONS THERE ARE AND WHO CONTROLS THE FLOW OF GAS.
MR. KAISER:  I have one related question, not directly

on Mr. Thompson's point, but it does relate to this.

One of the arguments for this transaction and the way it's been constructed and set up was that under the existing regime, it was hard to sell service, because you had to contract with two parties and it doesn't necessarily match.  So you might get capacity on the American side, but not on the Canadian side.  And so under the new arrangement, you just have to deal with one party.


Why is it possible to do that under the new structure and would it not have been possible contractually to do that under the old structure?


MS. WONG:  We will take that by undertaking, sir.


MS. COCHRANE:  That will be undertaking J2.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.3:  EXPLAIN WHY IS IT DIFFICULT TO MATCH CONTRACTS UNDER THE CURRENT STRUCTURE.

MR. THOMPSON:  Are you finished there, Mr. Chairman?


MR. KAISER:  Yes, I am.  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me then turn to the new facilities, the Bickford to Dawn Pipeline part of the Dawn Gateway proposal.  This then brings me to the response to Mr. Quinn's Interrogatory No. 1; that is, FRPO No. 1.  And, Mr. Wachsmuth, you are apparently responsible for this interrogatory response; am I right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I testified at the EBLO 244 hearing, yes, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  What this question asked -- let me just back up.


Basically, what the 11 -- sorry, the 17-kilometre new piece is, it is an extension of the St. Clair Line to Dawn, right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  You can look at it as a loop of the existing Bickford to Dawn Line?  If we look on that map --


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, I would not characterize it as a loop, because it does not connect in at Bickford.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, so what?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Well, looping usually is -- when we refer to looping, we -- usually for a pipeline goes from a station to a station.  On our Dawn-Trafalgar, for example, it would go to Dawn-Inniskillin.  This pipe here would go connect from Belle River Mills directly to Dawn with no intermediate connection at Bickford.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you bypass the Dawn compressor station, is that --


MR. WACHSMUTH:  No.  We would bypass the Bickford compressor station, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's right.  Not Dawn, okay.


Now, in the response to FRPO No. 1, there is reference there to two prior applications by Union to -- it is described as loop the Bickford-Dawn pipeline.  Was it a loop proposal or an extension proposal?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It was a loop.  When -- the pipelines that were applied for there had connections to the Bickford station.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  What was the rationale for the EBLO 244?  Was it to enhance the utilization of the Belle River-Bickford pipeline?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe in EBLO 244 hearing, sir, there was a number of things.  That also was for a 30-, 36-inch pipeline, and also involved a number of wells that were going to be drilled in the Bickford Pool.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is that decision in the record?  If not, could we have an undertaking to produce it?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It is not in the record, sir.


MS. WONG:  Yes, we can produce it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


MS. WONG:  EBLO 244?


MS. COCHRANE:  That's correct. 

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.4:  UNDERTAKING TO PRODUCE DECISION OF EBLO 244.

MR. THOMPSON:  In 25 words or less, why did the Board reject that application?


If it is going to take you that long to find it, I will wait to read it for myself.  You don't have it --


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Generally speaking, sir, I don't think they believed that we had a demonstrated need for the project.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's good enough.


Now, the interrogatory response also says, in 1999, Union submitted a second application, RP-1999-0030.  What was that for?  Was that a 24-inch line, a 36, or can you help me?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That pipeline, sir, was part of a Tri-State project, and 1999 was at the same time as the Vector Pipeline was going to be -- or was to be approved, and there were two competing proposals, one called Vector, one called Tri-State. 


When the Vector project was approved, the Tri-State project fell off the map.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, is the application in the prefiled evidence in the record?  If not, can could you undertake to file that for us?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It is not in the record.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you undertake to file it, please?


MS. WONG:  Can you help me with the relevance, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I assume, in applying to this Board, that Union accepted that an extension of the St. Clair Line through to Dawn was subject to provincial jurisdiction.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, I guess the Tri-State project really would not have connected to the St. Clair Line.  It was connecting to a line that basically came across -- a new line that came across the St. Clair River and basically south of Bickford, and then went north to the Bickford station.  It did not involve the use of the St. Clair Line in the Tri-State application.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I would like to see the evidence.


Was there evidence in that application suggesting that the extension that you were seeking -- the loop that you were seeking would enhance the utilization of the Belle River-Bickford Pipeline?  That's why I think it is relevant.  I would ask that it be produced.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't have that information at the top of my head, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Ms. Wong, can you use your best efforts to see if you can find that application?


MS. WONG:  Yes, sir.


MR. KAISER:  We will reserve a number for it and also for EBLO 244, if you could give that a number, too?


MS. WONG:  I believe we gave that a number, sir.  That is 2.4.


MS. COCHRANE:  So this one will be J2.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.5:  TO PROVIDE APPLICATION RP-1999-0030.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, moving forward to the Dawn Gateway proposal, essentially we have the three pieces that are part of the existing line.  We have this new piece that was substantively, I suggest, the subject matter of at least one application before the Board, and perhaps two.


The same parties own these lines as did previously, and I am suggesting to you what really has happened was you just reshuffled the contractual deck chairs and have come up with the joint venture concept.

Do you accept that as a reasonable characterization?


MS. WONG:  Mr. Thompson, I don't think it is fair to put that kind of question to this panel.  If you want to put that question, you had Mr. Baker and Mr. Isherwood yesterday.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. KAISER:  I think it is just argument, anyway, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, sir.


Does anybody on this panel have an idea of how the new system is going to work compared to the old?  I am talking, again, about nominations, that kind of thing.  Or is that something that was with the other panel?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Mr. Isherwood and Baker I believe would have been better to answer that question.  I believe what we heard yesterday was that all of the nominations would go to Dawn Gateway and DTE side.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, yes.  So DTE has replaced Union, is the way I see it, but I don't see that as a big deal.  But let me move on.


Perhaps I will just wrap this up.  I will put this question to this panel, but it may be something for Ms. Wong to address.


But assume the Board finds that this extension that you are seeking is really something that remains within provincial jurisdiction, what is there to preclude the Dawn Gateway Joint Venture from applying to the OEB and seeking rate -- seeking leave to construct and rate relief that will allow them to do exactly what they want to do at the NEB, operate under the auspices of contracts?  

     As I say, I will just leave that for Ms. Wong.  Perhaps we can address it in argument.  I will say on the record now I don't think there is anything that -- 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, there is nobody on this panel that can answer that question.  Mr. Baker, Mr. Isherwood would have had to answer that question.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. 

     MS. WONG:  Actually, I think you are right, Mr. Thompson.  That is for argument.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  With that, I rest my case.  Thank you very much.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Who is next?  Mr. Quinn?  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes, thank you, sir.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. QUINN:

     MR. QUINN:  Once again, Mr. Thompson has very capably handled a lot of this matter, but I thought maybe to differentiate some things that might get a little bit of clarity before we get the undertakings. 

     From a technical point of view, I am not sure if there is, Mr. Mallette or Ms. Hockin, is there pressure regulation at the St. Clair valve site?  Pressure regulation flow control, to be specific?

     MS. HOCKIN:  There is regulation at St. Clair Line station?

     MR. QUINN:  So it is at the St. Clair Line station but not the valve site itself?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  Correct.  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I presume that Union operates those regulators at the St. Clair Line station?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  Currently, yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  And the purpose of that regulation would be to control the flow of gas either toward Bickford or back toward Belle River Mills?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  There is regulation to control either way, yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Yes.  Thank you.  So currently there is the capability to flow either way and Union Gas controls that?

MS. HOCKIN:  Union Gas can control flow either way at the St. Clair Line station for the Canadian flows, yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  How does it determine how much flow is required?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  I don't know that.  

     MR. QUINN:  Is there someone -- 

     MS. HOCKIN:  I assume it would be with nominations, but I am not familiar with the nomination process.  

     MR. QUINN:  Maybe we have run up against the same stumbling block.  

     Is there an injection-withdrawal schedule or something that would be impacted at Bickford by what is anticipated as a flow that will be required through the St. Clair Line?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry, injection-withdrawal on the Bickford to Dawn piece of pipe is a separate operation, basically, from the flow on the St. Clair Line.  

     MR. QUINN:  Well, I think what we heard yesterday was that notionally, Union is accepting firm contracts by displacement on the Sarnia Industrial Line.  

     MS. HOCKIN:  Yes.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  To the extent that occurs, there's some presumption that the gas doesn't necessarily need to get to Dawn, because it displaces gas that would be going east to west on the Bickford Line?

     MS. HOCKIN:  Certainly.  When the Bickford to Dawn line is being used for storage operations, injection or withdrawal, any firm contracts on the St. Clair Line would have to be met through displacement into the Sarnia Industrial Line market.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if you would please turn up in the evidence page 5, paragraph 26 of the prefiled evidence.   

     MS. HOCKIN:  I have that.  

     MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  So in paragraph 26, it says -- it is talking about firm transportation service historically has been 170,000 gJs per day in the winter, 106,000 gJs in the summer.  

Now, that would be 106,000 gJs per day in the summer going to Dawn?

     MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry, these would be import volumes that would be put into the Sarnia market, correct.  

     MR. QUINN:  Okay.  What I am trying to understand is how do you come up with the capacity constraint in the summer, when in fact the opportunity is that gas is flowing through to -- is flowing from Belle River Mills notionally to Dawn, it actually running counter to the flow that you need for storage.

     So in other words, it actually has the benefit of not having to flow on the Dawn to Bickford line, because the gas can just be notionally injected right into the storage pool at Bickford.  

     MS. HOCKIN:  The Bickford to Dawn section can't be used for storage and transmission simultaneously.  

     MR. QUINN:  Why is that?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  The line would be used -- would be being used for injections during the summer, could potentially be at much higher pressures than what the other line would be, is one example.  

     MR. QUINN:  To the extent the gas is flowing down the St. Clair Line, though, it is available at Bickford for the potential of injection?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry, can you repeat that question?  

     MR. QUINN:  Maybe I will handle it a different way.  

     Over the years, Union's expression is:  You don't colour-code molecules.  So whether these are transmission molecules or storage molecules, they're still flowing in common lines that have an interconnection point at Bickford; is that accurate?  

     MS. HOCKIN:  The St. Clair Line connects to Bickford and the Bickford to Dawn line connects at Bickford station, yes.

     MR. QUINN:  So you have a west to east flow of transmission and an east to west flow of storage.  Simply put, they tend to counteract one another. resulting in less flow.

     MS. HOCKIN:  If they were both transmission purposes.  I guess I can't elaborate too much on storage.  My area of expertise is on the transmission side.  But the storage operation is separate from the transmission operation.  So that line would only be used for storage injections or storage withdrawals.  

     When it could be used for transmission would be when it is not being required for storage injections or withdrawals.  

     MR. QUINN:  My understanding is the storage need on that line dictates the amount of firm capacity that is available for transmission.  

     MS. HOCKIN:  No.  

     MS. WONG:  If I could be of assistance, Mr. Quinn -- I don't want to interrupt your cross-examination -- but I think the problem is you are not understanding the way the displacement works and the way the exchange of gas works.

Maybe if the witnesses explained that to you, it might help you.  Because the -- as I understand it, the ability to transmit gas from St. Clair to Dawn is based solely on the exchange and displacement of gas that is used in the St. Clair market.  Maybe if the witnesses were to explain that to you, that might help you.  

     MR. QUINN:  We can try that.  

     MS. WONG:  Can somebody explain how displacement works, and how you use that to transmit gas from St. Clair to Dawn?

     MS. HOCKIN:  I will try.  

     MS. WONG:  Okay. 

     MS. HOCKIN:  There is no firm path back to Dawn.  So in order to contract any firm amounts, the only thing that we can commit to is the market that's available, and the figures that are included in paragraph 26 are the minimum market that we can make sure is there to use up that gas that is coming in there.  

     MR. QUINN:  So that first statement that there is no firm path back to Dawn presumes, once again, that you have, I guess in my view, artificially limited the pipeline operation to just storage or just transmission.  

     MS. HOCKIN:  The pipeline operation is limited to storage or transmission.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Quinn, I also don't want to interrupt you, but is your question essentially:  Why can't the displacement be even greater because, in fact, there could be injections at Bickford, rather than just consumption in Sarnia, and that that would enhance the overall capacity?  Is that --


MR. QUINN:  That is my question.


MS. CHAPLIN:  I don't think that question has been answered.


MS. WONG:  Can you ask the question again, Mr. Quinn or Ms. Chaplin?


MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, you are saying that the only -- the capacity for using displacement is limited by the Sarnia load, and in the summer the Sarnia load is only 106,000.  But could not there be additional displacement by putting those St. Clair volumes into the Bickford storage, using them as injection volumes?


MS. HOCKIN:  I don't believe that is --


MS. CHAPLIN:  If not, why not?  I guess that is the question.


MS. HOCKIN:  I don't believe it is operationally feasible, but I am not the storage –-


MS. WONG:  We can do that by undertaking.


MS. HOCKIN:  -- planner.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  That was helpful.


MS. WONG:  I think we can get it from the record, but does anybody want to repeat it?  We are not sure what the undertaking is.


MR. QUINN:  I think the way --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Why can't there be additional displacement in the summer by using the volumes on the St. Clair line to inject into storage at Bickford/


MS. WONG:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  That's an undertaking, 2.6.

UNDERTAKING NO. J2.6:  PROVIDE RESPONSE TO WHY ADDITIONAL DISPLACEMENT CANNOT BE USED BY USING VOLUMES ON ST. CLAIR LINE TO INJECT INTO STORAGE AT BICKFORD.

MS. WONG:  Thank you.


MS. COCHRANE:  J2.6.


MR. QUINN:  I think I understand, Ms. Hockin, what you are saying is that your focus is transmission, and then probably you can help me with this aspect.


Yesterday we heard, in clarification from the witness panel, that the capacity -- current capacity, although it originally stated in the evidence it was 200,000 gJs per day, it is actually 211,000 gJs per day.  I was just wondering --


MS. HOCKIN:  The current capacity?


MR. QUINN:  The current capacity, yes.


MS. HOCKIN:  Is 214,000 gJs per day.


MR. QUINN:  214, my mistake.  What is the difference?  What changed the capacity from 200 to 214?


MS. HOCKIN:  Sorry, is that with reference to an IR?


MR. QUINN:  Well, we were -- maybe that would be helpful.  If you want to turn up FRPO Interrogatory No. 6, right at the very bottom of the page, it was corrected to state that the capacity on the St. Clair line should be 214, not 200 as was stated in paragraphs 21 and 22.


I am just seeking clarification as to what the nature of the change was?


MS. HOCKIN:  That was a correction.  I used an incorrect number the first time.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, thank you.

Moving on, then, my understanding from the proposal that Dawn Gateway is submitting, the capacity would move to 385,000 gJs per day?


MS. HOCKIN:  That's correct.


MR. QUINN:  And what are you proposing -- my understanding is you are proposing a line from Bickford to Dawn, 24-inch?


MS. HOCKIN:  Dawn Gateway has proposed a 24-inch line from the Bickford area to Dawn.


MR. QUINN:  What I am trying to understand physically is you have -- the current line -- maybe I should clarify.  The current line from Bickford to Dawn is 20-inch?


MS. HOCKIN:  The current line from Bickford to Dawn?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MS. HOCKIN:  Is 24.


MR. QUINN:  Sorry.


MS. HOCKIN:  Is 24-inch.


MR. QUINN:  Is 24-inch.


So you are putting in a new line, not a loop line; a new line of 24-inch, same diameter as the existing diameter.  Yet your capacity is going from 214 a day to 385 a day.


Can you clarify how that occurs?


MS. HOCKIN:  Certainly.  There is some other modification to the system, but the main driver of that would be that a higher pressure will be available.

Currently, the system under Union relies on 750 pounds at their river, at the international border, getting back to Dawn at approximately 700 pounds.  That was the original design of the line.


The proposed Dawn Gateway Line has a DTE-supplied pressure of 825 pounds, and that is the main driver of the incremental capability.


MR. QUINN:  Is the assumption in that simulation that the Dawn pressure would still remain at 700?


MS. HOCKIN:  The Dawn pressure in that case is 715 pounds, I believe is what is filed in the EB filing.


MR. QUINN:  So what has occurred on the Belle River side -- or where was the constraint removed to allow a higher pressure to be input into the Belle River system?


MS. HOCKIN:  I don't know what DTE has -- what modifications they have done.  That was a provided pressure.


MR. QUINN:  Well, again, Ms. Wong might say that I could have asked the panel yesterday, but this is a technical question.


MS. WONG:  What's the question?


MR. QUINN:  What is holding the partners back, today, from making that same modification under the current regulatory construct?


MS. WONG:  I certainly don't think this panel is able to answer that question.


MR. QUINN:  I deferred the question to try to get an understanding of the technical nature so that we could understand the investments being made, but a simple change in pressure from 750 into 825, we are not talking about a major modification, necessarily, to affect that kind of change.


MS. WONG:  Well, to go back to Mr. Baker's evidence from yesterday, his evidence was, right now, they don't need any more capacity, because the capacity that's there is not even being used.  They're only using 10 percent.


The whole purpose of the Gateway Line is to put in an overall set of modifications which will bring demand to the line, and as a result of that demand coming, that is why they need the additional capacity and additional pressure.  


So there is no purpose in putting in more capacity at this point if nobody wants it.


MR. QUINN:  Okay, accepted.

Maybe what I will do is ask the technical question, and then we can determine if there is value going forward.


Would you agree with me, Ms. Hockin, the difference between 750 and 825 does not jump in terms of classes for flange rating or other design features that would constrain a pipeline?  Sorry, Mr. Mallette.


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I agree with that statement.


MR. QUINN:  So what we're talking about is likely incremental investment with the same facilities to ensure that the 825 is achieved, but we are not talking a full rebuild of a station, per se?


MR. MALLETTE:  I wouldn't imagine so, no, certainly not on the Canadian side of the border.


MR. QUINN:  To the extent that -- I know you don't own the facilities, but to the extent your facility was going from 750 to 825, you would not anticipate that you would have to dramatically change the components of the station?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, are you talking about the compressor station at Belle River Mills?


MR. QUINN:  I am talking about if Union were to own the facility -- I know you cannot comment completely on what Belle River Mills may or may not have to do, but to the extent that was your facility, to be able to provide incremental pressure from 750 to 825, would you see that as a need for a complete rebuild or would you be talking about minor modifications?


MR. MALLETTE:  I am speculating a bit here, but I would expect it to be more in the modification range as opposed to a complete rebuild.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I see that we may be limited in terms of getting a better appreciation of the technical aspect of it.  I think with the undertakings that have been achieved by Mr. Thompson and being provided by Union, I would end my questions at this point.

Thank you, sir.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We will take the morning break at this point.


--- Recess taken at 11:04 a.m.

--- Upon resuming at 11:31 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Vogel.  

    
CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. VOGEL:  

     MR. VOGEL:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Good morning, panel.  I represent GAPLO and CAEPLA, the landowner intervention in this proceeding.  

     And the landowners are concerned about the potential impacts of the proposed change in jurisdiction on landowner interests, so that is what I propose to address with you.  

     Mr. Wilton, perhaps if we start with you.  Looking at  

Union's application Exhibit K1.6, at page 2, paragraph 10, I take it Union's position is that the Dawn Gateway Line is in the public interest.  Is that correct, Mr. Wilton?  

     MR. WILTON:  Are you in the application?  

     MR. VOGEL:  I am in the application at page 2, paragraph 10.  

     MR. WILTON:  Yes, that is what is stated there.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And looking at the prefiled evidence at page 9, paragraph 47 deals with the land matters.  

     Insofar as landowner rights and interests may be impacted by Dawn Gateway, I take it that Union relies on the landowner rights which it acquired in 1988, which are to be assigned to Dawn Gateway LP; is that correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And those are the rights which Union obtained for the construction and operation of the St. Clair Line in the provincial jurisdiction; correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  If we look at that application in 1988 -- which you will find in the GAPLO prefiled evidence at attachment 1 to the GAPLO evidence -- at page 30, paragraph 73?

     MR. WILTON:  I am following you. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  You are at paragraph 73 of the prefiled evidence; is that correct, Mr. Vogel?  

     MR. VOGEL:  That's correct, Mr. Wachsmuth.  

     MR. WILTON:  I have it.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Wilton, paragraph 73, then, deals with the form of easement agreement for which easement -- for which Union obtained Board approval in 1988 for the construction and operation of the St. Clair Line; is that right?

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  I see there that it was for the construction and operation of one and only one provincially-regulated line.  

That's the St. Clair to Bickford line, right?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And as it is described there, the major restriction on landowner rights imposed under that agreement is with respect to the construction of buildings or excavation on easement; is that right?  

     MR. WILTON:  With the addition of field tile, yes.  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  But otherwise, as it says there, the farmer was free to farm the easement and there were no restrictions imposed off-easement; is that right?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And referring to paragraph 31 in that -- sorry, page 31 in that prefiled evidence, at paragraph 77, those are the rights that Union purchased at that time and those are the easement rights which Union now proposes to assign to Dawn Gateway LP in connection with the Dawn Gateway project; is that right?  

     MR. WILTON:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Wachsmuth, turning to you, in that same prefiled evidence at page 26, paragraph 62, there is a reference there to the Environmental Assessment, the EA, prepared and provided to the Board in support of Union's 1988 application, and I take it from that information provided there that it was provided and prepared in accordance with the OEB's environmental guidelines at that time; correct?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Looking at paragraph 63, over the page, (4), I take it that what that environmental assessment provided to the Board in support of the 1988 application did, was it identified and assessed the potential environmental effects of constructing and operating the St. Clair Line as a provincially-regulated pipeline in the proposed pipeline route; is that right?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  It certainly would have looked at the potential environmental effects of constructing and operating a pipeline, yes. 

     MR. VOGEL:  And that was the St. Clair Line, as it was at that time proposed for operation in the provincial jurisdiction; correct? 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct, sir. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Under 6, the mitigation provided then was for that provincially regulated pipeline to minimize its environmental and socio-economic impacts; is that correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And the decision that you undertook this morning to provide to the Board, the 1988 decision of the Board on this application, there is a reference in there to Union having addressed and mitigated landowner concerns through consultation and negotiation. 

     So, I take it, it was the concerns and impacts and mitigation that are identified, were identified at that time in Union's environmental assessments, that the Board was considering? 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, could you give me the reference in the decision, please?  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  It is paragraph 3.4.12.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:

"The Board finds that Union has been diligent 

in addressing landowner and environmental concerns in its final route selection."

     MR. VOGEL:  Right. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's what the Board says, yes, sir. 

     MR. VOGEL:  So those were the concerns and impacts and the mitigation proposed by Union, identified in the EA report that we were just discussing; correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir.  

     MR. VOGEL:  And all of those impacts and the mitigation of them then related to the construction and operation of the St. Clair Line as a provincially-regulated line; correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Certainly operation of the St. Clair Line, yes.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Back to you, Mr. Wilton, then.  

     If we look at these additional impacts to landowner interests which would result from the transfer of the St. Clair Line to the federal jurisdiction as part of the Dawn Gateway proposal -- and those are the additional impacts that are addressed in Dr. Brinkman's report, which is included in GAPLO's prefiled evidence -- we're talking about the NEB 30-metre control zone on either side of the easement and the 12-inch cultivation restriction, and the crossing consents, requirements, and additional consent requirements, the potential regulatory liability, exposure to abandonment, costs and liabilities, the inability to recover costs of participating in NEB regulatory proceedings. 

     I take it you would agree with me, Mr. Wilton, that none of those additional impacts were identified or assessed by Union at the time of its 1988 application; correct?

     MR. WILTON:  I don't believe I am -- I have the qualifications to speak to Environmental Assessments and the scope of them and their results.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Wachsmuth, can you answer that question?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Could you repeat it again, Mr. Vogel? 

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  All of those impacts that are identified in Mr. Brinkman's evidence -- the control zone, the cultivation restriction, crossing consent requirements, regulatory liability, exposure to abandonment costs and liabilities, inability to recover costs in regulatory proceedings -- I take it that none of those additional impacts were identified and assessed by Union at the time of the 1988 application; is that correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  And there was no mitigation then prescribed at that time for any of those impacts; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I am not sure of that, sir.  I mean, there are some safety regulations which Mr. Mallette talked about earlier relative to "call before you dig" for excavations on the pipeline, or the TSSA regulations, which require "call before you dig" so some of those things, and, again, with abandonment, the base document was the CSA Code.  I am not sure what number it was back then.  


So there would be some restrictions that would have been looked at at that point in time.


MR. VOGEL:  Whatever the restrictions were in the provincial jurisdiction would have been looked at, but to the extent those are different in the federal jurisdiction, they would not have been looked at and they were not addressed by Union or considered by the Board in 1988; is that fair?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know the answer.  I suspect the main thing that would have been looked at were the provincial regulations, yes.


Whether the federal regulations were there at that point in time, I just don't know, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.


If we can turn to Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 9, that interrogatory and response deals with the additional landowner impacts that would result from the change in jurisdiction.


Mr. Wilton, are you responsible for this response?


MR. WILTON:  Portions of it, I am, yes.


MR. VOGEL:  I take it that Union agrees that the NEB land restrictions on and adjacent to the easements are somewhat different than for provincially-regulated pipelines; is that correct?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  That's our statement in the answer to the IR.

MR. VOGEL:  In fact, then, some of that difference and some of the other differences are identified by the NEB itself in the question and answer attachment which you have included as attachment 1 to that IR response; is that right?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  Is that right?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, that's correct.  Sorry.


MR. VOGEL:  If we look at that attachment, then, at page 3, question 2, some of those differences include, as it says there, different crossing restrictions; right, Mr. Wilton?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, it does say that.


MR. VOGEL:  And over at page 4, question 5, it may include different company consent requirements; correct?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And at question 7, possibly cultivation restrictions under the federal jurisdiction, not in the provincial jurisdiction; correct?


MR. WILTON:  I wasn't reading their question 7 as saying that there might be possible cultivation.  I thought this answer was --


MR. VOGEL:  Let's read it.  The question is about cultivation, and the answer in bullet 1 is that:

"The landowner and pipeline companies have to agree on specific restrictions."


So possibly cultivation restrictions come with the federal jurisdiction that may not be in the provincial jurisdiction; correct?


MR. WILTON:  That could be.  I am familiar with the provision -– 


MR. VOGEL:  Looking over at page 10 -- sorry, that would be question 10 -- it says at the bottom of page 5 --it deals with the funding issue.  One of the other differences is non-availability of participant funding in the federal jurisdiction; correct?


MR. WILTON:  Yes.  This deals with funding in the federal.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  It says it is not available.  It does not authorize the NEB to provide participant funding; correct?


MR. WILTON:  I believe that is true with respect to certain proceedings before the NEB.


MR. VOGEL:  So I take it, then, that Union agrees that on all of these types of impacts that we were just looking at here that would result from the change in jurisdiction, those are impacts that were not considered by the Board in 1988 when it approved this St. Clair Line as being in the public interest; correct?


MR. WILTON:  I am not sure that that is the case, what was considered in 1988.


MR. VOGEL:  You don't know?  Does anybody else have another answer?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  They weren't considered, Mr. Vogel.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.


Referring to Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 6, Mr. Wachsmuth, it appears that Union did not provide this Board, as part of this application, with any Environmental Assessment identifying and assessing those additional impacts or addressing how those impacts might be mitigated; is that correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, sir, what was the reference again?


MR. VOGEL:  On this application, Mr. Wachsmuth, am I correct that Union has not provided the Board, as part of its application, with any Environmental Assessment identifying and assessing those additional impacts or addressing how those impacts might be mitigated?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, when you say "this application" are you referring --


MR. VOGEL:  I'm talking about the current application before the Board.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  The current application before the OEB, Union did not prepare an Environmental Assessment.  That is correct, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  But your IR response does make reference to environmental and socio-economic assessment reports, ESRs, which were included as part of Dawn Gateway's NEB filing; is that right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  Without turning those up, as I understand it, those consist of two ESRs filed by Dawn Gateway in support of its NEB application.


One of those deals with the continued operation of the St. Clair River crossing as part of Dawn Gateway; is that right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. VOGEL:  The other one deals with the new proposed Bickford to Dawn Line; is that correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Am I correct, then, that there has been no Environmental Assessment undertaken by Union as part of this application, or as part of the Dawn Gateway application before the NEB, with respect to the additional impacts on landowners on the existing St. Clair line which will result from the change in jurisdiction?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, could you please go through that in parts?  I think there were a couple of questions there.


MR. VOGEL:  No.  There is only one question, Mr. Wachsmuth.


Am I correct that neither Union on this application, or Dawn Gateway as part of its application before the NEB, has done any Environmental Assessment of the additional impacts on landowners on the existing St. Clair line which would result from the change in jurisdiction?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I would disagree with that statement, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  What's the basis of your disagreement, Mr. Wachsmuth?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Well, sir, I agreed with you the section that Union Gas has not completed an Environmental Assessment.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  The report that was prepared by Stantec for Dawn Gateway, I think, talks about some of the additional impacts which you talked about.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  And that, as you have just told me, is concerned with the new Bickford to Dawn Line?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir, with the existing line.  They did two reports, as we talked about earlier.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  There is some material in the report that goes from the river to Bickford that talks about some of the additional impacts.


MR. VOGEL:  Could you give me the reference, Mr. Wachsmuth?


MS. WONG:  Maybe I can help you out.  Maybe I can help you out, Mr. Vogel.  There is a reference at Volume 1 of the NEB application, appendix N, as in Nancy, page 528.  There is a chart there.


I believe there is also some text which Mr. Wachsmuth can probably find for you, but I know it is in the chart at page 528, the last bullet point.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, I was going to go to page --


MR. VOGEL:  Just a moment.  Just let me get this reference.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It is Table 5.2, which is found on -- page 525 is the first page of that, and it is in a couple of pages.  On page 5.28 at the bottom under "Social and cultural well-being -–"

     MR. VOGEL:  I am not still not with you, Mr. Wachsmuth.  I am at page 5.22.  What am I looking at?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sorry.  If you could go to page 5.28.  It is a fold-out table, or it is in mine.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  "Social and cultural well-being"?

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  At the bottom. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  They talk about disruption from rural lifestyle from NEB safety-zones regulated.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that that is an impact of the effect of the change. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Again, if you would go back to page 516 of Mr. Wesenger's report, section 5.2.12 -- 

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes.

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  -- and I guess that talks again about some of the additional social and cultural things that Mr. Wesenger heard during the public consultation, which he tried to address as part of the change from the OEB to the NEB.

     MR. VOGEL:  I see a reference both in the chart and at page 516 to disruption in rural lifestyles.  

     But I don't see addressed at either of those references the impacts to landowners on the existing line with respect to various matters like the -- which we had just addressed -- the 30-metre control zone.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that is addressed on 516; at least it is identified on 516. 

     MR. VOGEL:  It is identified.  Is it assessed anywhere or mitigation –- or compensation, anywhere?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I guess on 517 there is talk about mitigation and potential measures and Mr. Wesenger talked about residual impacts later on. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Well, apart from the blanket approval that you have suggested you are working on or was suggested earlier this morning was being worked on, what other mitigation has Union proposed -- well, Union hasn't proposed anything -- has Dawn Gateway proposed as part of its application with respect to any of those impacts that I have just been reviewing with you?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  The mitigation measure which Stantec recommends is the blanket agreement, which I believe Dawn Gateway will be working on, or is currently working on.  

     MR. VOGEL:  I see.  All right.  Well, Mr. Goudy will be dealing with all of those in some detail with you, so I won't pursue that further with you.  

     Where we are then, Mr. Wachsmuth, is nothing by way of an assessment of any of those impacts has been filed with this Board and whatever was filed with the NEB is limited to the two references that you just gave me; is that right?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  In terms of -- there is some indication, I think, possibly from yourself this morning, Mr. Wachsmuth, that Dawn Gateway was engaging in some discussions to try and deal with some of these issues.  Those are negotiations being conducted on a without-prejudice basis; is that right?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir.  

     MR. VOGEL:  At the present time, there has been no settlement concluded with respect to any of these issues; is that right?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir. 

     MR. VOGEL:  All of these additional impact issues then are not resolved and they remain outstanding; is that correct?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding, sir.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Well, now I want to deal more specifically with some of these potential impacts that would result from a proposed change in jurisdiction.  

     I have some questions for you with respect to the increased risk to landowners with respect to post-abandonment costs and liabilities.  Mr. Goudy will be addressing some of these other impacts with you.  

So looking at the abandonment issue first, and Mr. 

Mallette, perhaps we can turn to you.  At Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 5, at page 3 of that response.  

subparagraph (E), you have referred there, Mr. Mallette, to the physical life expectancy of the St. Clair Line being indefinite.

But I take it that that provided, and only as long as those other measures, cathodic protection and ongoing monitoring and proper operation are continued; is that right?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  That's right.  The indefinite lifespan of the pipe depends on good maintenance practices.  

     MR. VOGEL:  So that would -- the pipeline will last only so long as there is ongoing maintenance and periodic replacement, as required; is that fair?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  The usefulness of the pipeline to carry gas at pressures as has been designed for is affected by that mitigation.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  But even for an abandoned pipeline, if you discontinue the cathodic protection and the monitoring of it and a regular maintenance and inspection program -- the same program that you would have for an operating pipeline -- if you discontinue that, then eventually, you will agree with me, that you can expect that that pipeline will physically deteriorate; correct?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  If the pipeline was abandoned in such a way that all of these measures were removed from it and there was no care taken of it, cathodic protection was suspended and so forth, there's been studies done and it is really indeterminate how long it would take. but over the course of perhaps hundreds of years it would deteriorate to the point where it would lose its physical integrity.  

     MR. VOGEL:  In some locations, perhaps hundreds of years; in other locations perhaps ten years?

     MR. MALLETTE:  There hasn't been a lot of studies done where there's been pipe left in the ground and monitored that way. 

     MR. VOGEL:  You will agree with me it depends on soil conditions, it depends on groundwater conditions, it depends on a number of variables?

     MR. MALLETTE:  It would depend on a lot of those things, yes.

MR. VOGEL:  In G, you tell us that the remaining useful economic life is something in the range of 10 to 32 years.  So can I conclude from that, then, that the economic life of the St. Clair Line may expire as early as 2019, 10 years from now? 

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I didn't provide this part of the answer, but my understanding is that if it continued under the economics that were brought forward at the time that it was built, then this would be accurate.  This does not apply to its usefulness as part of the Dawn Gateway project.

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  But if, at that time, 2019, say, there was no further economic justification for the St. Clair Line, it might be abandoned at that time?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, that's a big hypothetical, because I believe Dawn Gateway will want to operate this pipeline well beyond 2019. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Suppose Dawn Gateway doesn't get approved for some reason, and the economic life expires within the range of period that you have given us and that's 10 years.  

     So in 10 years, if this pipeline has no further economic justification, it may be abandoned; isn't that correct?

     MR. MALLETTE:  It could be abandoned.  It could be sold to somebody else.  There is many possibilities that the pipeline could be used for at that time if it continues in the current situation.  

     MR. VOGEL:  But at that time or at some later time, in any event, at the point where it is abandoned, unless it is removed from the ground, or unless Union continues the cathodic protection and the monitoring and regular maintenance and replacement that we were talking about, you can expect that the St. Clair Line -- like any other pipeline -- will eventually deteriorate; correct?  

     [Witness panel confers.]

MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I think as we have stated before, understanding what the results are going to be today, before you get to the point of actually proposing the abandonment and coming up with an abandonment plan, they're difficult to predict.


So if we follow along the story line that you've laid out, which may or may not be what actually happens when the pipeline is abandoned, and if it stayed under Ontario jurisdiction, if the TSSA guidelines for abandonment were followed, that may or may not be an outcome that occurs, what you are describing, that it would deteriorate.


MR. VOGEL:  Well, that's fair enough.  So if it is not removed and you don't include -- don't continue the cathodic protection and the maintenance of it, this line, the St. Clair line, like any other pipeline, may eventually deteriorate; correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  I believe previously I said that under those very narrow defined conditions, yes, I would agree.


MR. VOGEL:  Right.  All right.  Then with respect to how that deterioration might impact landowners and their agricultural operations, in GAPLO's prefiled evidence at -- this would be the evidence of, sorry, Dr. Brinkman.  It is attachment 5 to his evidence.


MR. MALLETTE:  Our tabbing is not very good for this.  Could you give us the name of the document that you're referring to?


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  The document is a document entitled, "Pipeline Abandonment:  A Discussion Paper on Technical and Environmental Issues", produced by the Pipeline Abandonment Steering Committee in 1996.


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, okay, I have that.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  The Pipeline Abandonment Steering Committee was an industry working group that was established to look at abandonment issues; correct, Mr. Mallette?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's what it says here.


MR. VOGEL:  It included representation from CEPA.  Spectra and Westcoast, are they members of CEPA?


MR. MALLETTE:  Subject to check, I believe so.


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.  You are familiar with this document, are you?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I am.


MR. VOGEL:  I am not going to review it with you in detail, but for example, if you turn to page 17 and 18, can we agree that ground subsidence as a result of corrosion and ultimate structural failure is a potential impact of pipeline abandonment which may affect landowners and their agricultural operations?


MR. MALLETTE:  It's been some time since I have read this document through, but I believe that, yes, subsidence is identified as a potential consequence, although I believe it also identifies that it would -- it is unlikely it would be a catastrophic type of subsidence.  


The pipe would develop a small hole whereby water and soil would probably infiltrate and start to fill the pipe, that kind of situation.


MR. VOGEL:  Or perhaps on a larger scale.  In any event, we agree subsidence is a potential issue impacting on landowners and their agricultural operations; correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  That is a potential outcome if the pipeline is abandoned and left in place without protection.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Turning over to page 26 in that same document, similarly, the creation of water conduits causing unnatural drainage and material transport, and the potential for soil and ground water contamination, again, those are impacts of pipeline abandonment that might affect landowners and their agricultural operations; fair enough?


MR. MALLETTE:  That is an impact that is identified in this document and I believe is dealt with, to some degree, in the TSSA guidelines for abandonment, where these kinds of impacts that are identified in this document are identified and need to be considered before the abandonment plan is put in place.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  If we look at -- there is a second document produced by that same Pipeline Abandonment Steering Committee.  It is at Tab 4.  It is attachment 4 in that same evidence.


Have you got that?  That is "Legal Issues Relating To Pipeline Abandonment", May 1997.


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I have that.


MR. VOGEL:  And the problem for landowners, as it is identified in that document, if you turn to page 8, you see right in the last paragraph on that page it says:

"Termination of the right-of-way may result in ownership of the pipeline reverting to the landowner.  This will be by virtue of the terms of the right-of-way agreement and the fact of abandonment."


Do you see that, Mr. Mallette?


MR. MALLETTE:  I see that sentence, yes.


MR. VOGEL:  Would you agree with me that landowners becoming the owner of a corroding, subsiding pipeline would be a major liability concern for landowners?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  This is another potential impact that's been identified through these studies, and again, whether it's the abandonment plan is developed under TSSA guidelines for abandonment or whether it's developed under the process of going to the National Energy Board for approval to abandon, these types of issues are certainly something -- along with the landowner consultation, public consultation, that needs to take place -- that would have to be addressed.


I don't think the pipeline company would be able to avoid addressing these issues.


MR. VOGEL:  It's a significant risk for landowners becoming the owner of a subsiding, corroding pipeline, isn't it?


MR. MALLETTE:  I can't say what the risk would be.  It depends so much also on where the pipeline is, the size of the pipeline, the location.  There is many, many factors that come into developing an abandonment plan, and all of these factors need to be taken into consideration.


So these are factors, I will certainly admit that.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  With respect to interference with future land use and development, if you look at page 9 in that same document, right at the bottom of page 9 there, it says:

"In the absence of clear statutory authority, the land developer would be responsible for doing what is necessary..."


In respect of the development, including the removal of the pipe.


You would agree with me that, similarly, that is a significant concern for landowners with respect to limiting the future use and development of their land and their prospective land value?  That is a significant concern?


MR. MALLETTE:  I guess depending on the situation, it could be significant or insignificant.  It goes on to say that:

"... removal of pipe in the ground would be similar to removal of trees and rocks or the foundation of a previous building ..."


So I don't know.  It might be serious.  I don't feel qualified to assume a situation and make a judgment as to whether or not it would be a serious risk or not.


MR. VOGEL:  Certainly it is a risk that has to be addressed, right?


MR. MALLETTE:  Absolutely.  As I've said before, as part of the abandonment plan, these kinds of impacts would have to be addressed.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  So if the pipeline is not removed at the time of abandonment, then the problem for the landowners -- and this is discussed over on page 10 of that same document.  Do you see right in the middle of page 10 the reference to -- this is in number 6, the middle of that paragraph:

"... the legal obligation on the part of the pipeline operator may exceed the life in fact of the operator."


Then down at the bottom there you see as a result, the landowners:

"... may be liable in the event of loss or injury suffered as a consequence of improper abandonment..."


It goes on to say they may also be liable for contamination.


You would agree with me that those, in some situations, may be significant concerns for landowners?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. WONG:  Mr. Vogel, I am not sure how this witness is qualified to talk about what the legal significance is of anything, especially for landowners.  So...


MR. VOGEL:  Let's agree that these are concerns that make it necessary to address, within whatever jurisdiction, the risk of the landowner having to take on legal obligation, which may exceed the life of the operator -- so there would be no financial recourse -- and may also become liable for contamination without any regulatory recourse.  Those are concerns that need to be addressed, right, Mr. Mallette?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Again, when it comes to liability, I believe that there is probably other superseding laws of the province and so forth that may be of some assistance here.

     I believe -- in the potential future abandonment plan that would be developed, again under either provincial or federal jurisdiction -- that numerous factors would have to be identified.  If those factors are not identified and addressed, and especially at the -- in the National Energy Board hearing process, landowners or other interested parties could bring forward any issues and challenge whether or not they have been adequately addressed.  

     I don't think there is any restriction on what can and can't be addressed at those hearings, although I have never actually been to one myself, I must say. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Yes, but you agree with me the issues that require addressing in whatever jurisdiction are this potential liability that is talked about here for the landowner.  In the absence of a financial recourse or potentially a regulatory recourse, that risk has to be addressed.

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  I am familiar with these documents that have been filed.  They have been around since the mid-'90s and they are a good piece of research that's been done on abandonment and to address issues around that. 

     I think they are an excellent resource that would be consulted, again, when putting forward an abandonment plan.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Mr. Wachsmuth, at page 11 there, dealing with -- there's a section called "Post-Abandonment Regulatory Oversight".  

     It talks about the differences between the provision for post-abandonment liabilities under the Alberta provincial legislation as opposed to under NEB jurisdiction.  

     You will see there that it says: 

"The licensee..."

That is in the provincial jurisdiction:

"... is therefore subject to a perpetual responsibility for the line.  The federal level, the NEB, has determined in the case of a line abandoned in place coupled with a determination by the pipeline company that the line and the related land use are unnecessary for the purpose of the pipeline, the NEB jurisdiction over the line comes to an end."

     So for the purposes -- for pipelines regulated by the NEB -- what I understand from that is that once the abandonment order takes effect, the jurisdiction of the NEB terminates.  Is that your understanding as well, Mr. Wachsmuth?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, it is not, sir. 

MR. VOGEL:  What is your understanding, Mr. Wachsmuth?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  My understanding is that if the OEB -- there was an abandonment application and the NEB ordered o approved the abandonment application, but that there were conditions of approval, that the NEB would still have jurisdiction over the pipeline until all of the conditions were satisfied.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Once the conditions are satisfied, then, Mr. Wachsmuth, and the order takes effect, is your understanding the same as mine, as reflected in the excerpt that we are looking at, which is that the jurisdiction of the NEB terminates?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  My understanding is that once the conditions are met, yes, but that is very -- in Ontario we are not required to go to the OEB for a hearing to abandon pipe, sir.  So it would be the same situation in Ontario.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Okay, I understand that.  

     Let's look at -- well, for an NEB-regulated pipeline, once those conditions have been satisfied and the order takes effect, we agree the NEB no longer has regulatory jurisdiction to address the post-abandonment issues that might arise, the subsidence, drainage, the contamination, the land use and development restrictions that we were just reviewing with Mr. Mallette, if those problems arise?  It is not the NEB that has jurisdiction to deal with those; correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct, although I would have hoped when you had the abandonment application, all of those issues would have been part of the abandonment application.

     MR. VOGEL:  One might certainly hope so, but then it is often difficult to anticipate problems in perpetuity; would you agree with me, Mr. Wachsmuth? 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  In the Ontario situation, sir, there is not a hearing at all for abandonment. 

     MR. VOGEL:  No.  But let's look at the Ontario situation, then.  

     If I take you to your response, Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 9, at page 2, what you have told us at the top of the page there, second line, is that provincially, abandonment is dealt with by the TSSA; correct?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I think Mr. Mallette identified the TSSA checklist this morning in his --

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  As I understand it Mr. Wachsmuth, under the Code Adoption document, under the Technical Standards and Safety Act and the Regs, the director has authority to require any company operating under TSSA to develop and implement plans and measures to prevent hazards to public safety or the environment to property which might result from pipeline abandonment.  Am I correct in that?  Mr. Mallette?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Mr. Mallette will help you with that.  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  As I mentioned in direct, although I didn't refer to the exact clause, part 8 of the Code Adoption document identifies where the director has reasons to believe design, construction, operation or abandonment of a pipeline may cause a hazard to the safety of the public or the employees of the operating company, an adverse effect to the environment, or the property, then, in that case, in those two circumstances, the director may ask for the company to submit a design specification program manual, procedure, measure, plan or document.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Fair enough.  So that is similar to the case of the provincially-regulated pipelines in Alberta that we were looking at in the Pipeline Advisory Steering Committee paper, and different than the NEB situation.

The regulatory authority in Ontario, TSSA, continues to have a jurisdiction to address post-abandonment issues under the Code Adoption document; correct?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  I believe so.  I mean the trigger is different.  With the National Energy Board, it is automatic.  In the case of the TSSA, the director has to have a reason to believe that there may be a hazard or adverse effect. 

     MR. VOGEL:  But the difference is to the extent that these issues arise post-abandonment, post the abandonment order coming into effect, in the NEB jurisdiction, provincially, landowners would continue to have a regulatory remedy for post-abandonment issues that might arise; correct?

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I think as Mr. Wachsmuth indicated, the concept here is that the abandonment plan developed either under a provincial or a federal regulatory situation would address those kinds of issues. 

     However, the document that referred to legal issues relating to pipeline abandonment, a discussion paper, in the paragraph on page 11 goes on to say that: 

"After the NEB jurisdiction ends, any continuing legal responsibility for the line would be determined under any applicable provincial legislation, contractual agreements or principals of tort liability."

So there is potential other means that could continue on past that.  

     MR. VOGEL:  What do you say is the applicable provincial legislation in Ontario that would address the case of an abandoned formerly nationally-regulated pipeline?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I am not sure of all of the Acts, but I would suspect there would be protections under the Environmental Protection Act and other Acts.  That is the one I could think of.

For instance, if the pipeline -- there was a spill or a contaminant released, I believe that would be subject to the Environmental Protection Act.


MR. VOGEL:  And I don't want to get into this in great depth with you, Mr. Wachsmuth.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  You won't get there, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  You will agree with me that under the Environmental Protection Act, the authority there would be exercised by the Ministry of the Environment, and the Ministry of the Environment has certain powers under the Environmental Protection Act, but there is no specific legislation in Ontario dealing with pipelines that would apply to the abandoned formerly federally-regulated line in the way that TSSA provides to provincially-regulated pipelines; correct?


MS. WONG:  Just so you won't be caught by surprise, Mr. Vogel, I intend to argue that the TSSA regulations do apply to federally-abandoned pipelines, that once the NEB has lost its jurisdiction, the pipeline is a pipeline and the TSSA regulations apply.


MR. VOGEL:  I look forward to hearing the authority that supports that, so I am going to leave this with -- I won't pursue that with you, Mr. Wachsmuth.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Thank you very much, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.


Mr. Wilton, let me come back to you.  If we go back to the 1988 prefiled evidence, which, again, is --


MR. WILTON:  Where do I find that?


MR. VOGEL:  Attachment 1 to GAPLO's evidence at page 30.


MR. WILTON:  Page 30?


MR. VOGEL:  Page 30, paragraph 73 and 74.  In this 1988 prefiled evidence, it includes a reference there to schedules 12 and 13, which I understand are the forms of the easement that was obtained by Union in connection with the St. Clair line; is that right?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  Those are the same rights and obligations you told me earlier that Union now proposes to transfer to Dawn Gateway Limited Partnership; right?

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  


MR. VOGEL:  If I look at schedule 13 to that evidence, that was a form of easement agreement that Union entered into with respect to Ontario Hydro lands in connection with the St. Clair Pipeline; is that right?


MR. WILTON:  That's my understanding.


MR. VOGEL:  And it is a different form of easement agreement, is it, than was entered into with the other landowners on the St. Clair Line; is that correct?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  If I look at paragraph 19 in the Ontario Hydro easement, I see that on termination or abandonment, the pipeline had to be removed and the lands restored to the satisfaction of Ontario Hydro, unless Ontario Hydro permitted the pipeline to be abandoned in place.


So is that a correct understanding, then, of how this Ontario Hydro easement provided for abandonment on Ontario Hydro lands?


MR. WILTON:  That's my understanding of the clause.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  But if I look at schedule 12, which is the form of easement agreement obtained from the GAPLO-Union landowners or their predecessors, there is no similar provision in that easement agreement, is there?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  And am I correct that there is no contractual right in the landowners, under schedule 12, to require the removal of the pipeline on abandonment?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. VOGEL:  So that in the absence of a contractual or regulatory requirement for the removal of the pipeline, it is possible that the St. Clair Line might be abandoned in place, at least in the lands to which this easement agreement applies; is that right?


MR. WILTON:  That could occur.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Mr. Wachsmuth, if that occurred with the St. Clair Line in the federal jurisdiction, and the abandonment order had taken effect and some of these other issues -- subsidence, contamination, interference with land use, et cetera -- arose after that order took into effect, then you will agree that those landowners could find themselves without any regulatory remedy to deal with that post-abandonment issue in the federal jurisdiction; is that right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I think my friend or my counsel, Ms. Wong, went and argued or will be arguing that the TSSA will be in effect.  The other thing I guess I would like to say is Mr. Mallette, when he develops the technical engineering abandonment plan, will be addressing those issues.


Again, if it is an NEB pipe, I am sure those things would be issued and become part of the Section 74 application.


I mean, yes -- could it occur?  Yes.  I just don't think it is very likely, sir.


MR. VOGEL:  All right.


Okay, I want to look just for a moment, to conclude this, at possible ways of reducing this risk to the landowners in the federal jurisdiction, either with respect to the regulatory remedy available, or not, to them, in the event that your counsel is incorrect in her argument, or the absence of any contractual remedy under the form of easement agreement that I just looked at with Mr. Wilton.


If we look in the GAPLO's prefiled evidence, and this will be an attachment to Mr. Brinkman's -- Dr. Brinkman's report at attachment 7, Mr. Wilton, I understand that's the form of settlement agreement that was filed with the Board on Union's Strathroy-Lobo looping of the Dawn-Trafalgar pipeline in 2006; is that right?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, this is the document. 


MR. VOGEL:  At page 5 in that document, in the section entitled "Abandonment Risks", one method of resolving this problem would be to insert in the easement agreement a provision requiring removal of the pipeline on abandonment similar to the one set out there, which reads:

"As part of the transferee's obligation to restore the lands upon surrender of its easement, the transferee agrees, at the option of the transferor..."


That is at the landowner's option:

"... to remove the pipeline from the lands.  The transferee and the transferor shall surrender the easement and the transferee shall remove the pipeline at the transferor's option where the pipeline has been abandoned."


 So you would agree with me, Mr. Wilton, that certainly if the landowner had a contractual right to require the removal of the pipeline on the abandonment, that would be one way to avoid the types of impacts and risks that we have just been discussing this morning; correct?


MR. WILTON:  Yes, this addresses that issue.


MR. VOGEL:  Fine.  But I take it that that is not something which Union has proposed on this application for the St. Clair Line or Dawn Gateway is proposing in its easement agreement; am I correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  The easement agreements for the St. Clair Line are easement agreements that are common to easement agreements from the 1988 era.  They wouldn't have this kind of provision in it.  

     Union is obligated to provide the easements to Dawn Gateway on an as-is basis.  What Dawn Gateway might do with the easements is a decision for Dawn Gateway.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Well, in Dawn Gateway's application, Exhibit K1.8 at schedule G, if you could turn that up. 

     MR. WILTON:  The NEB application?  

     MR. VOGEL:  The NEB application.  At schedule G -- 

     MR. WILTON:  I am afraid I don't have schedule G.  

     MR. VOGEL:  It is appendix G, I think, yes.  

     MR. WILTON:  Thank you.  

     MR. VOGEL:  As I understand it, that's the form of pipeline easement agreement which Dawn Gateway proposes for the new Bickford to Dawn Line; is that right?  

     MR. WILTON:  Well, this is the easement that is the subject of current negotiations between Dawn Gateway and the landowner committee.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  And that form of easement agreement, you will agree with me, does not contain any similar provision to the Strathroy-Lobo easement agreement, providing an option concerning removal of the pipeline on abandonment; is that correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  It does not contain that kind of clause, no.

MR. VOGEL:  So that is not something that has either been proposed by Union on this application in connection with the St. Clair Line, or something proposed by Dawn Gateway with respect to the easements it is proposing to acquire from the Bickford to Dawn landowners; is that right?

     MR. WILTON:  I don't think Union could propose anything here.  These are negotiations ongoing by -- between Dawn Gateway and the landowner committee.  Those are active negotiations, Mr. Vogel, and where this easement document ends up is an unknown at this point.  

     MR. VOGEL:  But in terms of dealing with abandonment risk to existing St. Clair Pipeline landowners, the provision that we just looked at, which gives the landowners the options of removal, is not something that Union has advanced on this application before this Board as a way of addressing that risk; is that correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  Union has not advanced that. 

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Alternatively, in GAPLO's prefiled evidence, at attachment 6 in that same evidence -- 

     MS. WONG:  Is that GAPLO or --

     MR. VOGEL:  That is Dr. Brinkman's report, attachment 6.

     MR. WILTON:  Can you identify -- 

     MR. VOGEL:  The document is a settlement agreement between Enbridge and the Manitoba Pipeline Landowners Association and Saskatchewan Association of Pipeline Landowners from October 2007.  And referring to page 12 there, at paragraph 9.1 -- 

     MR. WILTON:  Sorry, Mr. Vogel, I don't have that document in front of me just yet.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Mr. Vogel, apparently we must have missed one in photocopying because I just have the first page of it and not the rest of it.  

     MR. WILTON:  It may take a minute.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Sure.  

     MR. WILTON:  In which portion of this?  

     MR. VOGEL:  I am at page 12, paragraph 9.1.  

     MR. WILTON:  Yes, we have that.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  So this is the 2007 Enbridge settlement with the Manitoba and Saskatchewan landowners on the Southern Lights and Alberta Clipper Pipelines and you will see there that part of that agreement related to Enbridge's right to assign the easement. 

     You can see under there, A, B and C: 

"A.
Any assignment must be to a party with equivalent credit rating."

Or under B:

"Enbridge remains liable for its abandonment obligations unless, under C, the landowner consents."

     So, again, Mr. Wilton, would you agree with me that that does provide some measure of security for landowners with respect to the companies assigning their rights to third parties, that at least the assignee will have equivalent financial strength to the original transferee?  There is some measure of security there, is there? 

     MR. WILTON:  I haven't had an opportunity to look at this.

MR. VOGEL:  It is not too complicated, Mr. Wilton.  What that paragraph says is that if Enbridge is going to assign its rights under the easement agreement, it either has to do so to somebody who has an equivalent credit rating, equivalent financial strength, or it remains liable unless the landowner otherwise consents. 

     It is not really complicated.  

     So you will agree with me that that provides some measure of security for landowners, with respect to ensuring that there is somebody financially responsible at the end of the day to deal with abandonment issues; correct?

     MR. WILTON:  Again, you are asking me to comment on a settlement between other parties when there is an ongoing set of negotiations between Dawn Gateway and the landowner group in this application. 

     MR. VOGEL:  I am not asking you about those applications, Mr. Wilton.  What I am asking you about -- am I correct that there is no such restriction on Union's right of assignment under its current easement agreements or proposed by Dawn Gateway in its proposed form of easement agreement?  There is no such restriction on easement rights being proposed either before this 

Board or by Dawn Gateway before the NEB, is there?  

     MR. WILTON:  That's correct.

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  

     You will agree with me, though, that such a restriction on assignment would provide some measure of financial security for landowners who are concerned about their financial exposure to these abandonment risks?

     MR. WILTON:  On the face of it, that appears to be correct.  That might happen -- 

     MR. VOGEL:  Again, that is not something – sorry, you are not –- again, that is not something you are proposing to the Board either on this application and Dawn Gateway is not proposing that as part of its easement agreement on the NEB application; correct?  

     MR. WILTON:  It's not currently being considered.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Then if we look at -- just continuing on there, page 13, same document, paragraph 9.  It says that on abandonment, Enbridge either has to remove the pipeline or continue to maintain it, including cathodic protection, and it can't surrender the easement obligations without the landowners' consent.

     Again, you would agree with me that that does provide some measure of protection to landowners with respect to their concerns about liabilities and costs that may arise post-abandonment?

     MR. WILTON:  I would.  And that is one reason why at Union Gas, when we have abandoned pipe in the ground, we -- our policy is not to surrender our easements.  We will not surrender our easements, and we will certainly be talking that up with Dawn Gateway.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  Is that in writing in an easement agreement anywhere, apart from the GAPLO Strathroy-Lobo easement?  

     MR. WILTON:  No, it's not.  

     MR. VOGEL:  No.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Mr. Vogel, that hasn't been a commitment given to the OEB in past leave to construct applications.  

     MR. VOGEL:  All right.  On the St. Clair Line leave to construct application, was that a commitment that was made?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sir, it was more of a generic commitment that was made during past EBLO hearings.  

     MR. VOGEL:  I see.  

     MR. KAISER:  Could you be more specific about that?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Mr. Bryant gave that commitment at a number of leave to construct hearings.  I believe he gave it at 267 as one, and there were other ones he gave it at.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Is Union providing the same commitment to this Board sitting on this application?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  For the St. Clair Line?  

     MR. VOGEL:  For the St. Clair Line and for the proposed Bickford to Dawn Line?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sorry, sir, which Bickford to Dawn Line are you referring to?  

     MR. VOGEL:  The new one. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That will not be a Union Gas pipeline, sir. 

     MR. VOGEL:  You couldn't do it with that one?  What about the St. Clair Line? 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  As long as it is a Union Gas pipeline, I think -- 

     MR. VOGEL:  Not as part of Dawn Gateway, you're not prepared to extend that commitment?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Dawn Gateway would have to make that commitment, sir.

     MR. VOGEL:  Thank you.

Mr. Chair, those are my questions. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

Take the lunch break and come back in an hour.  

     MR. VOGEL:  I’m sorry, Mr. Chair, I should indicate --I think I did earlier -- Mr. Goudy will have additional questions for this panel.  

     MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

     MR. VOGEL:  Thank you.  

     --- Luncheon recess taken at 12:42 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:49 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.


Mr. Goudy.


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. GOUDY:


MR. GOUDY: Thank you, Mr. Chair.


Panel, I am John Goudy, co-counsel for GAPLO-Union, Dawn Gateway and for CAEPLA in this proceeding.


I am going to have a series of questions for you regarding the landowner impacts that were identified by Mr. Vogel that he didn't deal with specifically.  That's basically everything except abandonment.


During my questions, I am going to be referring to two documents, in particular.  If you want to have them handy, the first is the response -- Union Gas response to GAPLO's interrogatories, which is Exhibit K1.7, and the second document is the GAPLO written evidence, which is Exhibit K1.9.


So I will just start -- my first questions relate to the National Energy Board control zone.  I think it is technically call the controlled area in the National Energy Board Act legislation and regulations.


You have already acknowledged this morning that there is a 30-metre control zone on either side of a federally-regulated pipeline easement?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And that comes out of Section 112(1) of the National Energy Board Act?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding.


MR. GOUDY:  And that -- I will just read that section into the record.  Section 112(1) of the National Energy Board Act says:

"Subject to subsection (5), no person shall, unless leave is first obtained from the Board, construct a facility across, on, along or under a pipeline or excavate using power-operated equipment or explosives within thirty metres of a pipeline."


You have also discussed already this morning that excavation would include cultivation of the land?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. GOUDY:  So as far as Section 112(1) of the Act -- the National Energy Board Act provides, a landowner would not be permitted to cultivate within 30 metres of the pipeline easement, without leave of the National Energy Board; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  Our understanding is that they would not be able to cultivate below 30 centimetres in the 30-metre control zone unless additional approval was provided by the operating company, such as a blanket agreement.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  I should have said what I just proposed to you out of Section 112(1), that is subject to -- it says subject to subsection (5), and subsection (5), I won't -- you don't need to go to it.  It is the regulation power in the National Energy Board Act, and so from that, they have produced the Pipeline Crossing Regulations, which then allows a landowner to seek approval for certain activities from a pipeline company. 


You are familiar with those Pipeline Crossing Regulations?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, we are.


MR. GOUDY:  And cultivation is obviously -- or would you say it is the most common agricultural practice that takes place over Union Gas pipelines?


MR. MALLETTE:  I mean, it is an activity.  I don't know if it is the most common.  There is some no-till farming that is going on, and so forth.  So we will acknowledge it is an activity.


MR. GOUDY:  It is an activity that takes place regularly over the St. Clair Pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  I believe so, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  And so if the St. Clair Pipeline is transferred to the federal jurisdiction, as proposed by Dawn Gateway and indirectly by Union Gas in this proceeding, is it correct, then, that landowners, in order to cultivate below a depth of 30 centimetres in the control zone, would require consent from Dawn Gateway?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  They would receive -- require consent either each time or, more likely, as part of a blanket approval.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Thirty centimetres is about a foot; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Union Gas will actually be administering that approval process on behalf of Dawn Gateway?


MR. MALLETTE:  The current proposal, there is going to be a service agreement between Dawn Gateway and Union Gas to provide field services, and that is the proposal.  It has not been executed yet.


When and if it is, then answering such requests from landowners would likely be part of that agreement or part of their -- part of the work they need to do on behalf of Dawn Gateway.


MR. GOUDY:  Currently, though, the proposal is that Union Gas would be handling those land matters?


MR. MALLETTE:  As a contractor to Dawn Gateway.


MR. GOUDY:  Are you familiar, then, with the procedures under the Pipeline Crossing Regulations for responding to landowner requests for consent?


MR. MALLETTE:  We have some familiarity, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  So you understand that the landowner would need to notify the company at least three days in advance of the proposed activity?


MR. MALLETTE:  If you could refer me to the paragraph, then we could confirm that.


MR. GOUDY:  I guess we're looking at Exhibit K2.4, which is the National Energy Board Pipeline Crossing Regulations.  I am looking at part 1, page 23, Section 4(f).  It says:

"Unless otherwise agreed on by the pipeline company and the facility owner, and except in cases of emergency, three working days' notice is given by the facility owner to the pipeline company prior to commencement of construction or installation of the facility..."


So that is dealing with construction or installation of a facility.


And then if you turn to page 25, Section 6, again, subsection (f) states:

"Unless otherwise agreed on by the pipeline company and the excavator, and except in cases of emergency, three working days' notice is given by the excavator to the pipeline company prior to commencement of the excavation."


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I see that.


MR. GOUDY:  So you would agree that that's the requirement to get consent from a pipeline company under these regulations?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct, unless it had been preauthorized in a blanket agreement.


MR. GOUDY:  Would you agree with me that working days for the purposes of this -- working days for the purposes of this regulation would not include weekends?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I would agree the working days referred to refer to weekdays.


MR. GOUDY:  And of course farmers don't stop working at the end of the business week; correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  I would imagine they do not.


MR. GOUDY:  I guess you can speak to your understanding of the agricultural practices of the landowners on the St. Clair Pipeline currently, is it your understanding that they probably carry out their farming practices every day of the week?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  I really don't know.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  The landowner who rents our farm certainly works seven days a week.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Is that your understanding about landowners generally on the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Landowners in southwestern Ontario work when they have to.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  So under this procedure, the landowner asks for the permission to work, and then would you agree with me that under the regulation, the company would have 10 days –- 10 working days to respond to that request for permission?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  I don't have the exact clause but I believe that is the duration.  

     Just to, I guess, perhaps put it in context, a little bit of what we're talking about, it would be an excavation that would be unusually deep, I believe, that would require some sort of an approval that would not be covered under a blanket agreement and may require some deliberation.  Ten days is the period of time that is allocated or allotted in these crossing regulations.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  I am going to return to the types of excavation or cultivation that might take place later and we can discuss that, but that's fair enough.  

     Would you agree with me that currently under provincial regulation, there is no control zone area applicable outside of the pipeline easement?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I would agree that there is nothing that is called a control zone.  However, going back to Regulation 210 that we referenced this morning, there is a requirement for landowners to call and get -- to call the one-call system and get locates on their properties when they are anticipating doing some work.  So it is not called the same thing, but the effect is identical.  

     MR. GOUDY:  You looked at that with your counsel this morning, you looked at the TSSA regulation, but that was where there was the possibility of interference with the pipeline, was it not?  

     We can go to -- it is Ontario Regulation 210-01, which is Exhibit K2.2.  The section you referred to this morning were sections 9 and 10.  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  And again it reads: 

"No person shall dig, bore, trans-grade, excavate or break ground with mechanical equipment or explosives without first ascertaining from the license holder the location of any pipeline that may be interfered with."

     So again, if you aren't sure, and even if you are sure, you should always call before you dig.  

     MR. GOUDY:  But to the extent that a landowner is cultivating at a depth below 30 centimetres off-easement, there isn't any real possibility of interference with the pipeline, is there?

     MR. MALLETTE:  I can't speak for Dawn Gateway, but I believe that that would be a good topic for the blanket agreement.

     MR. GOUDY:  To the extent that cultivation over the pipeline easement and over the pipeline wouldn't risk interference with the pipeline, there is also no provincial limitation on cultivation by agricultural landowners?  There is no provincial regulation that applies to that?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Just a moment.  Well, I would go to two parts here.  First of all, I would go to 210, again, Ontario Regulation 210, where it says:

"No person shall interfere with or damage any pipeline."

     So if the tillage is very, very deep and there is a concern that the pipeline might be interfered with, then landowners are expected to get a hold of the operating company and find out exactly if there is a hazard.  

     So, you know, if they're doing their normal tillage, it wouldn't be an issue because they have done that for years.  But if they had a very, very deep para-plough type of operation, then they should contact the owning company.  

     Further, it says, in the Code Adoption document, Section 10.6.5.4:   

"No person shall operate a vehicle or mobile equipment except for farm machinery and personal recreation vehicles across pipeline right-of-way unless written permission is first obtained from the operating company."

     So depending on exactly -- I am not sure what type of operation you're talking about, but if it is very deep and it is not your normal farm equipment, then you should call.  

     Keeping in mind I suppose, as well, that there is a lot of tile drainage in these fields and the limit -- the depth that can be cultivated is to some degree limited by not damaging the tile drains which are located above of pipeline.

     MR. GOUDY:  Right.  Those tile drains might very well be located below a depth of 30 centimetres; is that correct?

MR. MALLETTE:  If you're telling me so, yes.  

     MR. GOUDY: Well -- 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's our understanding, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  All right.  Just a question on this TSSA -– sorry, the CSA Z-662 Code Adoption Document.  

     Are there other elements of the Z-662 Code that apply to land use by Union Gas landowners that don't appear, that haven't been changed by this Code Adoption document?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  There are a number of clauses in Section 10 of Z-662-07 that are associated with operating, maintenance of the pipeline, and deal with things like ground disturbance, pipeline, patrolling crossings, and so forth.

     Their applicability is perhaps less direct than some of the things we've talked about so far today.  

     MR. GOUDY:  So would you confirm whether there are any, any aspects in Z-662 that would affect the landowner's use of his or her land, whether there are any that don't appear in this Code Adoption document?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Well, let me read one to you, and it is 

Section -- from the CSA Z-662-07 standard, and it is clause 

10.3.11.3:

"Operating companies should establish safety zones for buried pipelines and communicate the conditions that the excavator is required to comply with when working in these safety zones."

So I guess that would apply.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And are there any others?  I am just asking because as you know, the Z-662 Code is a copyrighted document.  Landowners don't generally have access to it unless they go out and purchase it on their own.  

     So a concern of landowners is obviously that they have knowledge of what applies to them, in terms of regulations.  

     MR. MALLETTE:  Certainly.  Perhaps to put that Code into context, it is the basis for both Ontario regulations and for NEB regulations.  And the onshore pipeline regulations for the NEB and the Code Adoption document in Ontario build upon the requirements that are in the CSA. 

     So everything that's salient for a landowner to know is reflected in documents that they do have access to.  

     MR. GOUDY:  That being the Code Adoption document in the Ontario -- 

     MR. MALLETTE:  In Ontario, yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Can I turn you to Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No, 15?  That is Exhibit K1.7.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That was Union's response to GAPLO 15?  

MR. GOUDY:  Yes, GAPLO 15.


In particular, I am looking at responses to sub part (B) and sub part (D).  Union has responded that:

"With respect to the St. Clair pipeline, Union Gas determined the required easement width based on its construction and maintenance experience.  Sufficient room is needed to construct and maintain the pipeline."


And then:

"It would have been possible to construct pipeline on a narrower permanent easement as long as sufficient temporary working room is available.  However, it would not be possible to ensure sufficient room to maintain the pipeline throughout its operating life without the full permanent easement width."


Would you agree that when Union Gas constructed the St. Clair to Bickford Pipeline, that Union Gas acquired sufficient easement width to operate the pipeline safely?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, I agree with that.


MR. GOUDY:  And it continues to operate the pipeline safely with the same easement today?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And it did so with the knowledge that there was no controlled area regulated outside the easement?


MR. MALLETTE:  It did so knowing that there was other regulations in place, such as Ontario Regulation 210.


MR. GOUDY:  Was Ontario Regulation 210 in place at the time that the St. Clair pipeline was constructed?  Obviously --


MR. MALLETTE:  Sorry, I just don't know that.  The current edition of it, I believe, was issued after the pipeline was installed, but I don't know whether there is an earlier version or not.


MR. GOUDY:  But there's nothing similar to the National Energy Board's 30-metre control zone that was in place at the time that the St. Clair Pipeline was constructed?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. MALLETTE:  I don't believe there was even a 30-metre control zone at the time that this line was built in the late '80s.


MR. GOUDY:  But there certainly wasn't in Ontario when you -- when Union Gas acquired the easement for the St. Clair pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  I don't believe there was anything provincially or federally.


MR. GOUDY:  Right.  So you will acknowledge that at the time that Union made a decision about the width of easement that it required to operate its pipeline safely, it made that decision knowing that there was no 30-metre control zone on either side of the pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I guess Union built the line and started operating in the environment that was there at the time.


I am not sure if there was provincial legislation or "call before you dig" at that time, either, and I just don't know what was in place.


I mean cars used to be manufactured without seatbelts.  So, you know, the line was put in and complied with the regulations at the time.


MR. GOUDY:  But you have told me that it is still operating safely today?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  I think the -- you know, the regulations that have come into effect before and after that period have been put in place, both federally and provincially, with the intent of building upon the ability to operate the line safely.


So every piece of legislation that comes in and is added, the intent is the same, and that is to have the pipeline operate even more safely than it had been initially.


MR. GOUDY:  But the St. Clair pipeline is being operated safely today?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, it is.


MR. GOUDY:  With the existing easement width?


MR. MALLETTE:  With the existing easement width and Regulation 210.


MR. GOUDY:  But without the 30-metre control zone that was imposed under the National Energy Board Act?


MR. MALLETTE:  Without a thing called the 30-metre control zone under the National Energy Board Act, because it is not regulated by the National Energy Board.


MR. GOUDY:  Correct.  So if the St. Clair to Bickford Pipeline is operating safely without that 30-metre control zone, then would you agree that the Dawn Gateway Pipeline, but for the imposition of the control zone by the National Energy Board Act, it, too, could operate safely without the 30-metre control zone?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  You're specifically referring to the St. Clair to Bickford Line, Mr. Goudy?


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I guess we say it is operating safely today because there's been no deep or major excavations beside it.  I mean, we don't know what may happen or what some landowner may wish to do or what some company may wish to build in the vicinity.


So to say what's going to happen in the future, we don't know, because I mean it has operated safely in the past and up to now, but something could happen tomorrow in that 30-metre zone that we may need to have notification.


MR. GOUDY:  But something could have happened in the last 20 years –-


MR. WACHSMUTH:  And it hasn't.


MR. GOUDY:  -- alongside the St. Clair, and it just happens it hasn't; right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It hasn't, but I mean one thing that was proposed, and it has not moved forward, was the Shell Oil Company had proposed a refinery in the area adjacent to this pipeline.  If that would have happened, it would have happened in the 30-metre zone and there would have been requirements that we would have had to deal with in the 30-metre zone adjacent to the pipeline.


MR. GOUDY:  But as you have said, you don't need the 30-metre control zone, because you've got the Regulation 210, right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  We would have -- Union would have been notified, for instance, with 210, or if Gateway would have done it, it would have been through Section 112.


MR. GOUDY:  The proposed Bickford to Dawn Pipeline is going to have an easement width of 20 metres; is that correct?


MR. WILTON:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Can I take you to the GAPLO-Union evidence statement, which is in Exhibit K1.9?


I want to look at attachment 2.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, attachment 2 to whose evidence?


MR. GOUDY:  The GAPLO evidence statement.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, could you give us a title?


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.  It is the National Energy Board memorandum dated April 10th, 1986.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sorry, one minute, please.


I think we now have it.


MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  If you could turn to page 2, there's a page with a number 2 at the top of it.  And the first paragraph on that page -- this is an internal National Energy Board memorandum, and it states at the middle of that paragraph:

"In areas where the pipe is constructed near the limit of the right-of-way or where the right-of-way is narrow, our control starts a short distance from the pipe.  This control area may be insufficient to prevent hazards from deep excavations, blasting, large excavation equipment, poor site control, et cetera."

That is the reasoning, as far as this memo is concerned, that's the reasoning behind the creation of the 30-metre control zone.

Would you agree that neither the St. Clair Pipeline, the existing pipeline, nor the proposed Bickford-Dawn Pipeline would share any of those characteristics that cause concern for the National Energy Board?

So the easement isn't narrow.  The existing easement isn't overly narrow; is that correct?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  I guess it is very difficult for me to 

comment on a 22-year old document staff memo at the NEB.  I can agree with you, yes, the easement is going to be a 20-metre easement and the pipeline –-

MR. GOUDY:  That's not too narrow to operate the pipeline safely?

MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  Neither of the 18-metre easement for the existing line nor the 20-metre easement for the proposed line are too narrow to operate the pipeline safely.

I don't think we can comment on -- evidently this memo was perhaps part of the reason or the -- where the actual crossing regulations came out of, and the NEB, in their wisdom, decided to create a control zone that is measured from the edge of the easement, not from the pipeline.  That's what they decided.

And that's what Dawn Gateway will have to comply with.

MR. GOUDY:  And the St. Clair Pipeline isn't up against the edge of the easement?

MR. MALLETTE:  I guess without doing a detailed survey of the line, we can't say how close it gets to the edge of the easement, but it should not be right up at the edge of the easement, no.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  If we could look at the -- in the same document or sorry in the same volume, looking again at the GAPLO statement, but this time attachment 1, which is Union's prefiled evidence in its leave to construct application for the St. Clair pipeline.

I would just like to turn to schedule 12 of that document which is the form of grant of easement that Union Gas asked the Ontario Energy Board to approve under the Ontario Energy Board Act, in that application.

MR. WILTON:  We have it.

MR. GOUDY:  And would you confirm that there is no control zone outside of the easement created by that easement document?

MR. WILTON:  The document itself does not create a zone.

MR. GOUDY:  There is no restriction on use of land outside of the easement contained in that document; is that correct?

MR. WILTON:  Not contained in the document, correct.

MR. GOUDY:  And there is no cultivation depth restriction contained in that document?

MR. WILTON:  No, there is not.

MR. GOUDY:  And at clause -- sorry.  So in fact in that document, Union Gas reserved to landowners the right to farm the land on the easement and over the pipeline?

MR. WILTON:  I don't believe that the document states that the granter of the easement can use the land for farming.  It says that the grantor can enjoy the lands, other than certain activities.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Also at clause 4, it says that Union Gas would bury the pipeline so as to allow ordinary or sorry, yes, ordinary cultivation.

MR. WILTON:  At clause 4?

MR. GOUDY:  Sorry.  That's the -- I'm sorry.  It is clause 3.

MR. WILTON:  Yes, that's correct.  So that ordinary cultivation can continue.

MR. GOUDY:  Then Union did, in fact, go further than that.  If you move back into the prefiled evidence, at page 30 -- and Mr. Vogel has already taken you to this earlier, at paragraph 73 -- Union represented to the Ontario Energy Board at that time that the landowner is free to farm the easement; is that correct?

MR. WILTON:  That's correct.  Or install service pipe, utility lines or a laneway.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  But now if the St. Clair pipeline's is transferred to the federal jurisdiction, then under the National Energy Board Act and the Pipeline Crossing Regulations, then there will be restrictions on the cultivation of the land, will there not?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes.  There will be some additional work that has to be done.  What our understanding is is through the blanket agreement which Dawn Gateway is proposing, those things would be minimized, those number of calls and the restrictions will be minimized.

MR. GOUDY:  Minimized, but not eliminated; is that correct?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.

MR. GOUDY:  That's the proposal, but as far as those restrictions are concerned, they form no part of the easement agreement that exists right now?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And they form no part of the -- they weren't compensated for as part of that easement agreement?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, I don't know the answer to that question.

MR. GOUDY:  Well, the easement agreement was executed at a time when the pipeline was and still is a provincially-regulated pipeline; correct?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.

MR. GOUDY:  Those National Energy Board Act and Pipeline Crossing Regulation land use restrictions didn't apply to the pipeline at the time that the easement was executed?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sorry, could you repeat that, sir?

MR. GOUDY:  The National Energy Board Act land use

restrictions didn't apply to the St. Clair pipeline, obviously, when the easement was executed.

MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't believe Section 112 had been implemented when this pipeline was constructed, sir.

MR. GOUDY:  Even if it had been, it wouldn't have applied to this pipeline, right?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's correct.

MR. GOUDY:  Right.  So is it fair to say that it wouldn't have been in the contemplation of the parties to the easement agreement that part of the compensation would be in respect of these National Energy Board land use restrictions?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know, sir.  I don't know what the compensation package and what the negotiations took place back in 1989, sir, or '88, sir.

MR. GOUDY:  Well, there's obviously -- you have said there is nothing in the easement that –-

MR. WACHSMUTH:  There may have been something else at the time that I don't know about.

MR. GOUDY:  The restrictions aren't stated in the easement; correct?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair.

MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  You have told me, as far as the control zone outside the National Energy Board 30-metre zone on either side of the pipeline easement goes, you have already told me that's not required for the safe operation of the St. Clair Pipeline today.

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Based on the activities that are happening adjacent to that line today, that's a fair statement.

MR. GOUDY:  And the transfer of jurisdiction that's being proposed isn't being proposed out of safety concerns; correct?  The rationale for the transfer of jurisdiction isn't so that you can get the 30-metre control zone on either side of the pipeline, is it?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir.

MR. GOUDY:  It's an economic decision made by the proponents of the project.

MR. WACHSMUTH:  Dawn Gateway is trying to develop the pipeline, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  If I could take you to a series of strip --- they're called "strip maps" on the document.  I think they're overhead photographs of the St. Clair Pipeline easement, and they're in Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 7 at attachment 1.


I can show you, if you look over here, that's what I want to -- it's that series of maps that I would like to look at.


MR. WILTON:  We have that.


MR. GOUDY:  They all bear the number K9.14, I believe.  There is -- it's a series of maps, 1 through 8.


Is it correct that this shows -- this is an overhead aerial view of the St. Clair to Bickford Pipeline easement?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  In response to the interrogatory that GAPLO submitted to Union, what's been done on here, I understand, is that the 30-metre zone on either side of the pipeline easement has been superimposed on the photograph; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  And that's the zone shown with diagonal lines?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And the existing St. Clair pipeline has an 18-metre wide easement?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MR. WILTON:  There may be some locations where that is slightly different, but, by and large, 18 metres.


MR. GOUDY:  Would it be more or less than 18 metres?


MR. WILTON:  Less in some.


MR. GOUDY:  Less?


MR. WILTON:  Mm-hmm.


MR. GOUDY:  So the 30 metre -- and 18 metres is approximately 60 feet?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MR. GOUDY:  The control zone adds outside of that easement an additional 60 metres; correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  Combined, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  And that would be approximately 200 feet?


MR. MALLETTE:  The 60 metres would be, I think, a little less than 200 feet, around that.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that effectively what happens is that the control zone represents an area of about three times the size of the easement, three times the width of the easement?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And on a typical 100-acre property that this pipeline runs through, can you tell me how many acres the easement would normally take up?


MR. WILTON:  I have not done that calculation.


MR. GOUDY:  Can you say, from your experience with all of the Union Gas pipelines in southwestern Ontario, what the average might be?  Would it be three or four acres of easement?


MR. WILTON:  Within the 18-metre easement, the permanent easement?


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.


MR. WILTON:  That's a fair estimation of what it might be on a 100-acre farm, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  In this -- I think particularly in this situation where you can see the pipelines running straight across the property, it is not on a diagonal; right?


MR. WILTON:  Correct.


MR. GOUDY:  So when you add the control zone to that, which you have agreed is about three times the size of the easement, there may be an area on these properties now where land use may be restricted or require consent from the company in an area that could be up to 16 acres, is that correct, including the easement and the National Energy Board control zone?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.  Again, we would expect that most of the activities could be covered off under a blanket approval.


MR. GOUDY:  And the incremental increase in the area that would be subject to consent requirements or some kind of blanket approval, whatever that might be -- the increase over what currently exists in the easement, we're looking at, again, 10 to 12 acres of additional area on a 100-acre farm that would now be subject to some additional land use restrictions?


MR. MALLETTE:  Not necessarily.  If you look at the Ontario Regulation 210, it doesn't mention any distance from the pipeline.


So you could consider it is the entire farm that's covered under Regulation 210.


This is limited to 30 metres from the easement.


MR. GOUDY:  Of course you have already mentioned earlier this morning that under the Pipeline Crossing Regulations, the company has the right to prohibit any excavation anywhere on the farm for a period of three days; is that not correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?


MR. GOUDY:  You have already said this morning that under the Pipeline Crossing Regulations promulgated by the National Energy Board, the company can restrict cultivation anywhere on the property for up to three days?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's true.  So, I mean, in effect, Regulation 210 and the Pipeline Crossing Regulations are fairly similar in that regard, in that if there is activities going on anywhere in the vicinity of the pipeline that could damage the pipeline, then they need to be looked at.


MR. GOUDY:  Of course, I think you have already agreed with me that cultivation outside of the pipeline easement couldn't possibly interfere with the pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I think what I did say is that I would expect that would be something that could easily be included in a blanket approval.


MR. GOUDY:  Well, let's look at map 1 here, which is on the top side of the -- it is page 8 of attachment 1 to Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 7.


You see the Oil Springs Line Road that runs across the centre of this aerial photo?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Did you say page 8 or drawing 8?


MR. GOUDY:  It is strip map 1 of 8.  Union has page numbered the attachment, so forget that.  I am looking at map 1 of 8.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Sorry.


MR. MALLETTE:  I have it.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  You see the Oil Springs Line Road that runs down the middle of that?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And the St. Clair-Bickford Pipeline easement is on the south side of Oil Springs Road?


MR. MALLETTE:  Correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Correct.  Okay.


And you can see, as well, that the 30-metre zone that you have superimposed on this map actually extends north of Oil Springs Line; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.


MR. GOUDY:  So it is actually extending onto properties north of Oil Springs Line?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Those properties do not have the St. Clair Line easement?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And those landowners have no agreement of any sort with Union Gas with respect to the St. Clair-Bickford Pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  They do not.


MR. GOUDY:  And they have been paid no compensation in respect of that pipeline?


MR. MALLETTE:  That's not really my area, but I will venture a "no".


MR. WACHSMUTH:  If we could have a moment, please?


[Witness panel confers.]


MR. GOUDY:  And will you agree with me, as far as the -- if we look at Ontario Regulation 210, in terms of activities which might interfere with the pipeline, there's certainly no agricultural activity that could take place north of Oil Springs Line that could conceivably interfere with the St. Clair Pipeline; is that correct?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.  There's no -– well, it is unlikely there is any normal agricultural activity is going to take place north of the line that would affect the pipeline.  

     When we do, when Union Gas does public consultation and notification for safety reasons, with first responders and others in the zone of the pipeline, everybody in the near vicinity is made aware that there is a pipeline there.  

     So if they were to be doing something on that side of the line that could potentially interfere with the pipeline, then hopefully they would know there was a pipeline there and they wouldn't have to comply with Ontario Regulation 210.  

Ontario Regulation 210 is not limited to agricultural activities.  It is all activities. So let's take, for instance -- I don't think this is good practice, but if they wanted to remove a big stump from their front yard by putting a stick of dynamite underneath it, they should think about the vibrations that will occur, and knowing a pipeline is nearby, under Regulation 210, they should alert the pipeline company they're doing those kinds of activities.  

     MR. GOUDY:  But under the -- if the jurisdiction of the St. Clair-Bickford Pipeline is shifted to the National Energy Board, they will now have to seek company permission even to cultivate below the depth of 30 centimetres on that area of their property that falls within the control zone. 

     MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.  Again, I believe from a blanket approval perspective, that would be a real easy one to get to.  

     MR. GOUDY: And is it Dawn Gateway's proposal to enter into blanket approval agreements with landowners who don't have the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  I am not -- I can't say exactly what their intentions are.  And I am not -- I am not perfectly sure what a blanket approval will look like.  But I am thinking –-

MR. VOGEL:  I thought I was the only one.

[Laughter.]

     MR. MALLETTE:  I don't know what the end result is going to look like, you know.  But I am thinking it would be a letter saying:  Here is the things you can do.  And so I don't know if you would classify it as an agreement, per se.  But that's one possibility.  

     MR. GOUDY:  What if that is what landowners really needed, was a written agreement from the operating company?  Are you able to say whether Dawn Gateway would provide such an agreement?

     MR. MALLETTE:  I can't speak on behalf of them.  It seems as though it is something that -- it could be discussed.  I really can't commit for Dawn Gateway, though.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Let's –- and just acknowledge -- or would you agree that the -- you will see on the east side of this map at the right-hand side there's actually a farm yard directly adjacent to this control zone area, north of the Oil Springs Line; is that correct?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  That's what it appears to be.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  Let's look at map 2 of 8 now, which is directly below it.  

     Again, here there are actually two farm yards that are affected by this control zone that would extend north of Oil Springs Line.  

     Would you agree that -- or is it the case that neither of these landowners or -- sorry, any of the landowners along the north side of Oil Springs Line on map 2, is it the case that none of them have agreements with Union Gas for the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  I don't believe they have agreements for the St. Clair Pipeline.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And none of them will have received compensation in respect of the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. MALLETTE:  I believe the answer is still "no."  

     MR. GOUDY:  Were those landowners provided with notice of this proceeding, the application by Union Gas to sell the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  The Board would -- in Union's Letter of Direction, we were not required to serve those landowners specifically.  I am not sure if the ownership, whether or not some of them also own land south of the line.  They would have been known during Stantec's environmental assessment, they would have been sent copies since they were in the study area of some of the notices, and some people in this area, I believe, did show at some the open houses which were held by Stantec.  

     MR. GOUDY:  You don't know, however, whether these landowners participated in that discussion with Stantec?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Not specifically.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And Stantec didn't go to them directly to discuss the issue of the control zone with them?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And just again with respect to map 2 on the south side of the Oil Springs Line, there appears to be a house and a garage and a grain dryer and part of a farm yard located directly within the 30-metre control zone; is that correct?

     MR. MALLETTE:  That's correct.  It's shown on the drawing.

     MR. GOUDY: Has either Union Gas or Dawn Gateway consulted directly with that landowner, with respect to the effect of the 30-metre control zone?  

     [Witness panel confers.]

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  If you could turn to map 4 of 8.  I won't spend much more time on this.  

     I simply want your acknowledgement that there is -- there are locations on this map as well where the control zone extends, the 30-metre zone extends on to a property that doesn't have the St. Clair Pipeline easement; is that correct?

     In particular, there is a section to the south of the 

Canadian National Railway, which is on the left-hand side of the map.  There is also a section on the north side, on the east or right-hand side of the map, in particular, on lot 6, concession 15; is that correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  The control zone extends across the property boundary.  That is correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And is it your understanding that that landowner on lot 6, concession 15, does not have an agreement with Union Gas with respect to the St. Clair Pipeline?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  If no such agreement existed, you would agree that that landowner would not have received any compensation in respect of the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY: I am going to discuss a bit about cultivation, now.

Most cultivation doesn't take place below 30 centimetres for the most part, but something that does happen a great deal in the area of the St. Clair Pipeline is deep ripping of the subsoil.

Will you agree with me that that is a common agricultural practice in Lambton County?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I know that it happens.  I am not sure how common it is.  

     MR. GOUDY:  You don't know whether it is a common occurrence with your own Union Gas landowners?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir, I do not.  I know that it happens.  I don't know how often.  

     MR. GOUDY:  If we could go to Union's response to GAPLO Interrogatory No. 14, attachment 1, I am looking at the Ecological Services For Planning Limited interim monitoring report on construction and restoration of the St. Clair to Bickford pipeline.  Do you have that document?


MR. WILTON:  I do.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Go ahead, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  If you could turn to page 9 in that document, there is a table called "Table 1, Construction Effects and Mitigation Measures Bickford to St. Clair Pipeline".


If you go down to the second row that has -- it says "Grading" and under "Mitigation Measures" it refers -- it says:

"Topsoil was stripped to depths of 20 to 30 centimetres."


Do you see that?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I do.


MR. GOUDY:  Now if you could turn to page 19, page 19, the bottom paragraph says:

"The subsoil was then chisel ploughed several times to a depth of 40 centimetres."


If you go up to the previous paragraph, it refers to deep subsoiling that was undertaken on the pipeline easement.


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, I see that.


MR. GOUDY:  So you would confirm that Union Gas, following construction of the St. Clair to Bickford pipeline, did undertake deep subsoiling on the easement?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. GOUDY:  And it says that the subsoil was chisel ploughed several times to a depth of 40 centimetres.  That was before the replacement of the topsoil; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe so.  That's correct, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  We have already seen that the topsoil depth was between 20 and 30 centimetres.  So, effectively, what was happening was subsoiling was taking place to a depth of 60 to 70 centimetres, if the topsoil had been replaced; is that correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And the St. Clair Pipeline was installed to a depth of one metre; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  I believe it is installed to 1.2 metres in agricultural areas.


MR. GOUDY:  I won't take you to the response.  I will make the reference.  It is Union's response to Interrogatory 16C.


Union confirmed that there are no locations on the St. Clair Line presently where the depth of cover is less than one metre.  Is that your understanding?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  And so at this time, subsoiling was undertaken by Union Gas following construction to a depth of 60 to 70 centimetres; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Before the pipe was in operation, Union subsoiled to those depths, yes.


MR. GOUDY:  And that was on easement?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Right.  Although the pipeline was not in operation, any contact with the pipe by the subsoiling equipment would have caused damage that Union Gas wanted to avoid; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  Okay.  So -- and, currently, there are no locations on the St. Clair Line where the depth is less than a metre, but that said, if the pipeline is transferred into the federal jurisdiction, landowners will require consent, will be required to provide notice three days in advance of subsoiling below 30 centimetres, even off of the easement in the 30 metre-control zone; is that correct?


MR. MALLETTE:  It is correct, but again, would be a fairly easy inclusion in a blanket approval.


MR. GOUDY:  I don't know.  I don't have the blanket approval, so...


I understand from your answer just a few minutes ago that you don't actually know what the blanket approval might include.  You are not in a position to commit to anything today?


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, discussions that have taken place between Dawn Gateway and landowners to this date are without prejudice, so we are unable to divulge any details, but I can say that these topics have been discussed.


I mean, certainly there is a desire, I believe industry-wide, to reach a blanket agreement that is going to be helpful.


The recently issued National Energy Board Land Matters Consultation Initiative, the LMCI final report, for instance, contains actions and implementation approaches -- and we mentioned that this morning -- approaches that will improve company interactions with landowners, including guidance on crossings and the utility of blanket crossing agreements.


And this is perhaps a bit of a personal opinion, but it seems that reasonable people working together can achieve that goal and provide clearer expectations that the NEB, in the NEB's words:

"... will contribute to the overall safety and security of pipeline companies and landowners' operations on the rights of way."


So the desire is out there.  There is a methodology that is being worked on.  And I believe that that blanket agreement can be very, very useful in removing many of the concerns that landowners have and enhancing safety.


MR. GOUDY:  The control zone came into effect in 1990, didn't it?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding.


MR. GOUDY:  Right.  And the NEB, in its -- in the document that you have just referred to, this report on LMCI, Streams 1, 2 and 4, what it is proposing is that companies talk to landowners and come up with blanket approvals; is that correct?  That's what it says?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's one of the things in it.  It also says:

"By January 2010, the Board will assess whether further steps towards standards are required to promote the safety and security in the area of the crossing."


So they're going to do some more work –


MR. GOUDY:  We're almost 20 years on since the control zone was implemented; right?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Right.  And Mr. Mallette, you keep referring to a blanket agreement.  Again, when you are talking about this blanket approval, are you talking about an agreement between the company and the landowner, or are you talking about a letter?


MR. MALLETTE:  I may have used the word "agreement".  I should have said a blanket approval.  I stand corrected if I used the wrong words on occasion today.


MR. GOUDY:  So you are not meaning to commit to an agreement, per se?


MR. MALLETTE:  I don't know what form it would take.  That would be something that the landowners and the company should probably agree upon.  That's -- the form of the -- the form of that blanket approval is yet to be determined.


MR. GOUDY:  And just with respect to the deep cultivation, would you agree with me that the reason behind deep ripping of the subsoil is to relieve compaction of the soil?


MR. MALLETTE:  Yes.  The ripping that you referred to from the interim monitoring report, that was done just after construction, after there was a lot of heavy equipment working directly on the subsoil, and the subsoil had been compacted to a certain degree.  And that deep ripping was intended to relieve it.


I don't have any knowledge of the type of activities that a farmer would use today on their property to relieve subsoil compaction that may have been brought on by farming activities.


So I don't know whether we can say -- maybe you can tell me, but I don't know whether the 70 centimetres is an appropriate depth to use on a working field.  I don't have that knowledge.


MR. GOUDY:  Well, hopefully members of the GAPLO panel will be able to speak to that.  

     The construction, would you agree or acknowledge that the construction of the St. Clair Line, in fact, took place during very wet conditions that contributed to the compaction?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't know the answer.  

     MR. GOUDY:  To the extent that the interim monitoring report or the final monitoring report refers to construction in wet conditions, you wouldn't disagree that that's what happened?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I would not disagree, no.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Would you agree with me, then, as a result of that construction, it is likely that that land might be susceptible to compaction today?  That easement, that St. Clair easement would be more susceptible to compaction than other lands that weren't part of that wet weather construction?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  In terms of other excavation that might take place in the vicinity of the pipeline, you will agree with me that a common practice would be to repair tile drainage or install tile drainage?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And those operations, to the extent that they required mechanical equipment, would also fall within the requirements under the National Energy Board Act?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I think installing tile would fall under both the Ontario -- and the provincial regulations.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Is it your position that installing tile off-easement would require the –-

MR. WACHSMUTH:  I was talking about tile on-easement.

MR. GOUDY:  I am talking about off-easement.  Is it your position landowners are required to call Union Gas before they install tile off-easement?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Generally, no. 

     MR. GOUDY:  But they would be required to call Dawn Gateway if they were going to install tile within 30 metres of the pipeline easement going forward?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Unless it was part of the blanket approval or authorization.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Do you have a copy of the National Energy Board Act there to look at?

I will read the section to you.  I am just going to move on to the -- move away from the control zone issue and on to the actual crossing the pipeline with farm equipment.  

     So that is Section 112(2) of the National Energy Board Act.  

     I will read it to you.  It says -- 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Can you please just wait for a minute?

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Goudy, did you file those excerpts?  

     MR. GOUDY:  I haven't, but it is our intention to file them along with our argument.  

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay. 

     MR. GOUDY:  I will read it into the record.  It is a very short paragraph. 

     MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  

     MR. GOUDY:  I will just read it into the record.  It says:

"Subject to subsection (5) no person shall operate a vehicle or mobile equipment across a pipeline unless leave is first obtained from the company or the vehicle or mobile equipment is operated within the travelled portion of a highway or public road."

     To your understanding, has anything, any regulation been made under subsection (5) of the National Energy Board Act that applies to this section?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I don't know, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Do you know whether or not there's anything in the Pipeline Crossing Regulations that relate to landowners crossing a pipeline with vehicles or mobile equipment?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Well, I will suggest to you that the case is that there is no regulation created with respect to subsection (2).  

     So the legal requirement under subsection (2) is still that no person shall operate a vehicle or mobile equipment across a pipeline, unless leave is obtained from the company. 

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I hate to sound like a broken record, but I would hope that the crossing agreement or authorization would address that issue, as well.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Is it your understanding that that -- well, let's look at the Code Adoption document, which is Exhibit K2.3.

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, the Code Adoption document for?

     MR. GOUDY: The TSSA Code Adoption document.  It is Exhibit K2.3.  It's a document that you looked at in your examination-in-chief this morning.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe that was Mr. Mallette, but, yes, go ahead.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Mr. Mallette.  Sorry, I am just speaking generally to the panel.  I don't want to pigeonhole any of you.

So you read this previously.  It is Section 10.6.5.4.  It states:

"No person shall operate a vehicle or mobile equipment except for farm machinery and personal recreational vehicles across or along a pipeline right-of-way unless written permission is first obtained from the operating company or the vehicle or mobile equipment is operated within the travelled portion of a highway or public road."

     Would you agree with me that in Ontario, there's a clear exception for farm machinery being used over pipelines and pipeline right-of-ways, whereas in the federal context, there is no such exception?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That appears to be the case.  

     MR. GOUDY:  So currently landowners on the St. Clair to Bickford Pipeline do not -- are not subject to a regulatory requirement that they get permission to drive their farm machinery over the pipeline or pipeline easement from Union Gas?

MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  But once the -- or if the St. Clair Pipeline is transferred into the federal jurisdiction, those same landowners will be required to get written permission from Dawn Gateway to cross the pipeline with their equipment?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And although I know your understanding of the agricultural practices isn't a complete one, you will agree with me that almost every activity that a cash crop farmer carries out involves driving equipment over the field?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  It is certainly for the farmer that rents our land, yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And so depending on the location of the pipeline, they may be crossing that pipeline or driving over it multiple times in a single day; is that correct?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Would you agree with me, as well -- it is not absolutely clear in Section 112(2) -- but will you agree with me that that restriction doesn't apply only to the pipeline itself, to crossing the pipeline itself, it applies to the entire pipeline easement; is that correct?  

     [Witness panel confers.]

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I'm sorry, are you talking about clause 10.6.5.4, or Section 112(2)?  

     MR. GOUDY:  Section 112(2).  It says "pipeline" in the section, but then the 30-metre control zone applies from the edge of the easement, does it not?  Because this is more of a legal issue, I guess.  The pipeline includes the pipeline easement.  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I would prefer to leave that to counsel.

     MR. GOUDY:  And Union Gas will be, as we've discussed, the plan right now is that Union Gas would administer the lands relations, landowner relations for Dawn Gateway?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Right.  So you will be responding -- Union Gas would be responding to requests made under Section 112(2)?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Right.  So at some point Union Gas is going to have to have an understanding of exactly what Section 112(2) means?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is fair.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Correct?  

     And further, in terms of that understanding, would you agree with me there is no time limit imposed by the National Energy Board act on responding to a landowner request under Section 112(2)?  

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MALLETTE:  I believe this goes back to the 10 days that we had talked about earlier, the three days and 10 days –-


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.


MR. MALLETTE:  -- that are spelled out in part 2 of the Crossing Regulations.


MR. GOUDY:  Right.  And is it your position -- is it your understanding that that applies to Section 112(2)?


MR. MALLETTE:  It's kind of a legal thing here.  I am not sure -- I believe the crossing regulations come out of Section 112.


MR. GOUDY:  I appreciate that.  It is a legal question, but –-


MR. MALLETTE:  They're both regulations, so wherever it is, it would have to be complied with.


MR. GOUDY:  At the same time, though, you will acknowledge that you have been answering most of these questions today by saying:  We'll deal with it in a blanket crossing approval or a blanket approval, and that that's being negotiated between Dawn Gateway and landowners.  And in fact, it is Union Gas negotiating on behalf of Dawn Gateway, negotiating this blanket approval, but you don't seem to have any understanding of what the actual requirements are under the Act or the regulations.


MR. MALLETTE:  Well, I believe before we said that we're unable to provide a lot of detail around that, because the discussions have been without prejudice.  So we really felt that there was an inability to talk about many details, and we had to talk about it in more general terms and the desire to move it forward in the spirit of the NEB LMCI report.  So that is what we've limited our comments on today -- to today.


MR. GOUDY:  You have agreed already with Mr. Vogel, I think, though, that there is no agreement on a blanket crossing approval at this point?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That is correct.


MR. GOUDY:  Will you agree with me that there is nothing -- there is no restriction or no requirement for landowners to obtain Union Gas consent to drive their farm machinery over the pipeline or the easement in their St. Clair Pipeline easement agreement?


MR. MALLETTE:  We would agree with that, and we would go further, and maybe to expand a little bit further upon the blanket approval, would be that the desire -- and, again, we can talk in high-level terms about that approval -- the desire would be to get back very close to where we are today, so that the landowner would not see a significant difference between what they're allowed to do on the land today and what they would be allowed to do on the land once it becomes regulated by the National Energy Board.


MR. GOUDY:  Notwithstanding the negotiations that may be ongoing between Dawn Gateway and landowners, or may not be ongoing, notwithstanding that, would Union Gas be prepared to commit to the Ontario Energy Board today that St. Clair landowners would be put in exactly the same position they're in today in the event that the pipeline is transferred to the federal jurisdiction?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Could you repeat your question, sir?


MR. GOUDY:  Mr. Mallette just talked about getting landowners back close to the position that they're in today.


What about putting them in the position that they are in today, the same position?  Would Union Gas be prepared to commit to conditions on the approval of the sale that would effectively put the St. Clair landowners in the same position they're in today, if the transfer to the federal jurisdiction takes place?


MR. MALLETTE:  I think we have to stop just a little bit short of being able to give that commitment on behalf of -- on behalf of Dawn Gateway, which we unfortunately just cannot speak for.


MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you a related question?  You, Union, are asking for an assignment of certain property rights, easements, and they're set out in your application.  I think it is schedule 2.


Those property rights have been dealt with by this Board in 1988 when a leave to construct was granted with respect to this line.


What if the Board says:  All right, we'll agree to the assignment sought, but only on the condition that the landowners' rights are no worse off than they are under the existing easements; in other words, there will be nothing as a result of the transaction that will give them any less rights than they currently enjoy in this area that we have been discussing?


So my question is:  If we were to order that, which we can -- we don't need the approval of the joint venture company to order that.  You have asked for an assignment.  That assignment can be conditioned.  


We have heard examples where it's been conditioned before.  This Board has dealt with this -- these assignments with respect to this very line.


So my question is:  If we did that, is there some way that you can't comply, or the deal falls apart for some reason?


MS. WONG:  I am still stumbling, sir, over the question of Union Gas asking for the assignment, because it wasn't my understanding that Union was asking for leave to assign.  I don't believe that's part of the application.


MR. KAISER:  I am just reading paragraph 47 of your application.  Did I misread that?


MS. WONG:  The application or the prefiled evidence?


MR. KAISER:  The prefiled evidence, I guess it is.  As part of the proposed sale, Union would seek to assign the land rights that Union obtained for the construction and operation of St. Clair Line, and you attach them in schedule 2.  


So I assume that you are asking us to approve the assignments that are --


MS. WONG:  That wasn't my understanding, sir.  I thought we were asking simply for leave to sell the line.  I don't believe that we need approval from the Ontario Energy Board to assign property right.  The contracts go by -- under common law.


So we are applying under Section 43, I believe it is, for leave to sell the line.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  But even if it is leave to sell the line, if you have a legal argument that it is beyond our jurisdiction, fine.  You can address that, but I am raising the prospect that the Board, having heard the concern of the landowners, the Board having dealt with this very issue, albeit 20 years ago, granted leave to construct.  


Now you tell me you want to sell it, and we say the condition of the order is that the rights of the parties affected by way of assignments previously approved are not adversely affected.


MS. WONG:  Here is the difficulty.  The issues that the landowners are complaining about relate to the impact of the National Energy Board Act and the regulations.


These are not restrictions placed on them by the landowners.


MR. KAISER:  I thought you were going to say that, and that is true, in part.  That's what I am asking you to turn your mind to, after we get over the jurisdictional argument.


There may be some things that you can address without having the feds coming knocking on your door.  You could have a blanket approval.  You could have certain access rights that the National Energy Board wouldn't prohibit.  There may be certain things you say:  We can't do anything about it; once we're under NEB jurisdiction, that is the law.  

     MS. WONG:  That's correct. 

     MR. KAISER:  But I want you to turn your mind to the distinction, because we don't want to condition or order something that is going to end up having you in jail.  But on the other hand -- 

     MS. WONG:  Not me; Mr. Wilton. 

     MR. KAISER:  Yes.  Them not you, excuse me.  

[Laughter.] 

     MR. KAISER:  I want to understand, thinking this through, whether it is a jurisdictional argument, because it seems to me there are categories here.

     MS. WONG:  Yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Some may fall on the category you have just described and some may fall in concessions you could easily make instead of us going through another three hours that we can't speak on behalf of the joint venture.  

     MS. WONG:  Let me see if I can address it this way. 

     I believe there are certain detailed things that you could say.  Let's say, for instance, this Board could say as a condition of approval, you have to give them a blanket approval to plough to 30 metres -- 30 centimetres, something very specific like that.  

     I would imagine that you would have some jurisdiction to impose that kind of a detailed condition.  

     My only concern is that eventually, who knows what the 

National Energy Board is going to do?  If somehow a detailed condition that you impose runs afoul of a change in the law federally later on, if it is a blanket approval that Dawn Gateway gives now and that something changes in the future or NEB changes its rules, they might be able to change their blanket approval to meet the new change in the rules.

If you, as the Ontario Energy Board, impose that as a condition of approval, we might have a conflict between two regulators at that point, or two sets of laws.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, that might occur, but I think we can at least deal with the law as it now stands.  Something might happen in the future and it might have all kinds of implications, but if we are going to make progress on this, we need to address that question, I mean both you and Mr. Vogel.

     MS. WONG:  I think you have heard from the witness with -- 

     MR. KAISER:  It would be helpful to have some detailed thought on it and argument on it, and you might even have some discussions on it ahead of time so that we're not left trying to figure out what it is the landowners really want and what it is you can really do, and what it is you really can't do.  I am not asking you to answer it now.  

     MS. WONG:  That's fine.  I am not sure how we get to the place of you giving detailed conditions of approval, unless the parties either discuss that or give you evidence on that point.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Well, that evidence is in Dr. Brinkman's report.  So that what GAPLO and CAEPLA have proposed on this application with respect to conditions is contained in Dr. Brinkman's report, and there are examples, some of which I went through this morning with the panel, from other settlements where these issues have been resolved in other ways.

     So I think -- and we appreciate your comments and we certainly will be making an argument -- our position clear as to what is required in order to put these landowners in a position where they're not prejudiced by a transfer of jurisdiction.

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  

     Anything further?  

     MR. GOUDY:  Only to say, with respect to the question of Whether -- I guess whether there Board has jurisdiction to impose conditions.

     MR. KAISER:  You will be dealing with that, I'm sure. 

     MR. GOUDY:  I just point out that part of the jurisdiction of the Board when the pipeline is first approved is the approval of the form of the easement agreement, and the easement agreement was approved in a certain regulatory context with a certain expectation about that regulatory context.

     To the extent that that is going to change, I would say that the Board may, again, have jurisdiction with respect to the easement agreement.  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, I notice in the schedule -- they referred to schedule 2 -- there is 12 of those easements that are in the names of obviously individual farmers.  There's some that are in the benefit of the Crown, and so on.

Are they your clients?  

     MR. GOUDY:  Yes.  

     MR. KAISER:  So they're all represented, or their successors and assigns are?

     MR. GOUDY: That's correct, yes. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Can I take you to Union's response to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 9?  Mr. Vogel took you to this document earlier.  In particular I want to look at attachment 1 which is the National Energy Board question and answer about the TransCanada Alberta system.  

     So we are looking  -- it is a similar situation to the one we are in here.  This is just quickly to deal with the easement agreement point I just made.  If you could go to question number 12, which is at page 6 of 8 of that question and answer document.  

     The first bullet point under question number 12, last sentence says:

"A change of jurisdiction will not impact existing agreements."

     You have agreed with me that there is no requirement under the easement agreement for landowners to seek permission to drive their farm equipment over the pipeline or the easement agreement.  You have agreed with me that there is no consent requirement for cultivation on the easement.

     Would you agree with me that the transfer of jurisdiction, despite what the National Energy Board says, will, in fact, affect the easement agreement between Union Gas and these St. Clair landowners?  

     MS. WONG:  Mr. Goudy, I believe that is a legal question you are asking the witnesses to answer, and it is really not fair to put them through that. 

     I can tell you the position is that the easement agreement is the easement agreement, and continues to be the same.  The restrictions, if any, are imposed by the regulations, not by the easement agreement.  

     MR. GOUDY:  I am just going to move to the last issue that I want to look at, which is cost jurisdiction.  

     And, again, staying at the same document which is Union Gas response to Board Staff Interrogatory 9, if you go to page 2 of 2, the second paragraph Union says:

"There is a difference in the way costs are awarded between the Ontario Energy Board and the National Energy Board."

     Would you agree with me that that's quite an understatement, as to the difference in the cost jurisdiction between the two boards?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  There certainly are differences, sir.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Would you agree with me that that understates the difference?  It is not simply a difference in the way costs are awarded?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  There are differences in which hearings are awarded costs and which are not.  

     MR. GOUDY:  In fact, would you agree that there is a significant difference in the availability of costs for landowners between the OEB and NEB regimes?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  There certainly are differences.  Again, what I would do is I would ask to turn up the final report from the Land Matter Consultation Initiative where costs are discussed, in that the NEB recognizes it is an issue, and if you turn to page 6 of the final report, it deals with participant funding, and again, there are action steps that the NEB is proposing to implement to try to address this issue.

     MR. GOUDY: Could you tell me what those action steps are?

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  I think if you go to the action step on page 10, it talks about dealing with Natural Resources Canada.

     MR. GOUDY: Right.  It says:

"If Natural Resources Canada decided to examine this policy area, the NEB would work with Natural Resources Canada to assess and, if appropriate, implement any changes."

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And to your understanding, that is the extent of the action plan presented by the NEB as part of the LMCI process?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  And to date, is it your understanding that nothing has been done?  Would you agree with me that nothing has happened?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  Well, this report came out in May, sir, so I think it is a little early. 

     MR. GOUDY:  But would you also agree with me that any action in this action plan depends on Natural Resources Canada deciding to examine this policy area?  

     MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair. 

     MR. GOUDY:  Right.  So it is not actually the National Energy Board doing anything.  It is a decision that will have to be made at its sole option by Natural Resources Canada?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair.


MR. GOUDY:  Would you acknowledge that the Land Matters Consultation Initiative itself is another NEB regulatory process where landowners have no availability of cost reimbursement?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding.


MR. GOUDY:  And if the sale of the St. Clair Pipeline is approved and the Dawn Gateway project goes forward, and there is an application -- there is an application pending for a certificate of public convenience and necessity, any hearing regarding that certificate would also be a process where landowners could not recover costs of participation?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Could you repeat the question, sir?


MR. GOUDY:  The certificate of application that Dawn Gateway currently has before the NEB -- now, we had some brief discussion about this this morning, I think, the fact that Dawn Gateway has applied for an exemption from having to have a certificate hearing; is that correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  They have applied for exemptions from certain provisions of the Act, is my understanding.


MR. GOUDY:  Dawn Gateway actually applied for an exemption from the detailed route hearing process, which is the only process in the NEB jurisdiction where landowners could get reimbursement of their costs; correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's my understanding.


MR. GOUDY:  But that request has since been withdrawn?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I believe so.  


MR. GOUDY:  But as far as the certificate of public convenience and necessity hearing goes, you will agree that is another process where landowners would not be eligible for reimbursement of their costs?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  The Board would not -- the NEB does not have the ability to give a cost award for a certificate hearing; that's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  But if the Bickford to Dawn Pipeline were being constructed in the Ontario jurisdiction and leave to construct was sought from the Ontario Energy Board, that cost reimbursement would be available?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  There is a potential for a cost reimbursement at that point in time, a cost awarded for that hearing.


MR. GOUDY:  And what about a right of entry or expropriation application under the National Energy Board Act?  Is cost recovery available for that?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I do not believe so.


MR. GOUDY:  And earlier in your discussion with Mr. Vogel, Mr. Mallette, on the issue of abandonment, you talked about the ability of landowners to go to an abandonment hearing to -- I guess to challenge the abandonment plan that was put forward by a company.


Would you agree with me that that is another NEB process where landowners cannot recover or get reimbursement of their costs?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  At the current time, that is correct, but whether or not the LCMI changes that or not, we don't know.


MR. GOUDY:  Again, it is not really the LMCI, is it?  It is up to Natural Resources Canada?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's correct.


MR. GOUDY:  That's correct, okay.


Just back again with the abandonment application, would you agree with me that landowners who want to respond to an abandonment plan would probably need expert evidence?  Would you agree with me on that?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I think it would depend on what the plan was, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  Well, an abandonment plan is likely to include some scientific evidence or environmental consultant evidence, would it not?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  I just don't know, sir.  It could.


MR. GOUDY:  Has Union ever abandoned a pipeline?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, it has.


MR. GOUDY:  Did it have to make any kind of regulatory application at that time?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  No, it did not.


MR. GOUDY:  In any case, would you agree that in a regulatory proceeding, the Board makes a decision based on the evidence that is put before it?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  Yes, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  So to the extent that a company puts forward evidence from expert consultants on the issue of abandonment, it is likely that to respond to that landowner, it would require their own expert evidence?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  It is certainly possible.


MR. GOUDY:  So there's certainly more than a difference in the way that costs are awarded as between the OEB and the NEB.


In fact, what is different is that there's an entirely different scope of costs that can be awarded by the NEB or the OEB; is that not correct?


MR. WACHSMUTH:  That's fair.


MR. GOUDY:  Those are my questions, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

We will take the afternoon break at this point.


--- Recess taken at 3:35 p.m.


--- Upon resuming at 3:56 p.m.

     MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.   

     Is your panel ready? 

     MR. VOGEL:  Mr. Goudy will be doing the examination. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     MR. GOUDY: I wonder if -- could I have the panel sworn?  

     MS. SPOEL:  Can you come forward, please.

     GAPLO/CAEPLA - Panel 1

     Rick Kraayenbrink, Sworn 

     David Core, Sworn

     George Brinkman, Sworn

     Tom Highfield, Sworn
     EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. GOUDY:  

     MR. GOUDY: I am more or less going to just have the panel adopt their evidence, as I understand there is not going to be any cross-examination.  

     So firstly, Mr. Kraayenbrink, you are a shareholder in a company, a farm corporation called JayRink Farms; is that correct? 

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  That's correct.  That is correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  And the corporation is the owner of lands located at 116 West Line in Port Lambton, Ontario?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  And those lands are subject to an easement held by Union Gas?

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Not on that location.  That is lot 26.

     MR. GOUDY:  The company is the owner of lands that are encumbered by the St. Clair Pipeline easement?

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  That's correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And since when have you owned that property?

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  '97.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And you actively farm that property?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And you are a member of the steering committee of the GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway Group. 

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  That group is an intervenor in this proceeding?

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Could you just tell us, briefly, who the members of that group are?

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  There's a total of seven of us.  Wayne Annett is the chair, Jim Duffy is the secretary, and then the other landowners is -- to my left here is Tom Highfield, cousin Bernard, Jim Vandevenne and Pat Murphy.

     MR. GOUDY:  And with respect to the GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway Group generally, not just the steering committee, who makes up the GAPLO-Union group as a whole?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  I think there's a total close to 30 landowners, and our steering committee represents about 94 percent of those people.  

     MR. GOUDY:  94 percent of who?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Of all of the landowners involved in this procedure here. 

     MR. GOUDY:  So you are referring to landowners along the St. Clair Pipeline?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Along the St. Clair Pipeline, and the proposed new pipeline.  

     MR. GOUDY:  The proposed Bickford to Dawn section?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And as a member of that steering committee, I understand that the GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway witness or evidence statement that was filed in this proceeding was prepared under your direction?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And the answers to interrogatories given by GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway in this proceeding were also prepared under your direction?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And is that evidence and are the answers to those interrogatories correct, to the best of your knowledge?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Yes. 

     MR. GOUDY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?  

     MR. KRAAYENBRINK:  Yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Mr. Highfield, you are also a member of the GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway steering committee?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  You own lands along the existing Bickford Pool Line?

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And that's the location adjacent to which Dawn Gateway is proposing to construct the new pipeline?

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, correct.  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And you actively farm those lands?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, I do.

MR. GOUDY:  And again, you are a member of the steering committee of the GAPLO group?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And was the written evidence statement of 

GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway prepared under your direction?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, it was.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And the answers to interrogatories given by GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway were also prepared under your direction?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  That's correct.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Is that -- is that evidence and are the answers to interrogatories correct, to the best of your knowledge?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?  

     MR. HIGHFIELD:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Dr. Brinkman, I understand you are Professor Emeritus at the University of Guelph?

     DR. BRINKMAN:  That is correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  You are the former chair of the Department of Agricultural Economics and Business?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  That is correct. 

     MR. GOUDY:  You provided a written report as part of the GAPLO Union evidence in this proceeding?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Mr. Chair, I have spoken with Ms. Wong, and Union's content to have Dr. Brinkman qualified as an expert with respect to the evidence that he has filed in this proceeding.  

     So I would seek that he be qualified in that way, and if anything is further is needed I can go through his qualifications with him.

     MR. KAISER:  I read his CV; he is clearly an expert.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.

Dr. Brinkman, again you prepared a report that has been filed in this proceeding?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Is that report correct, to the best of your knowledge?

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes, it is. 

     MR. GOUDY:  You also were responsible and had oversight in the preparation of responses to interrogatories with respect to that evidence?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes.

     MR. GOUDY:  And are those answers correct, to the best of your knowledge?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes, they are.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Do you adopt the evidence and answers to interrogatories as your evidence in this proceeding?  

     DR. BRINKMAN:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Lastly, Mr. Core, you are here as a representative of CAEPLA?  

     MR. CORE:  Yes, I am. 

     MR. GOUDY:  Could you explain to us what CAEPLA is?  

     MR. CORE:  CAEPLA is an organization that has members across Canada.  We're a national non-profit organization.  

     We actually have -- are under continuing restructure as a result of the regulatory changes in Alberta.  We have an exponential increase in our membership and support.  So we have created associate memberships for individual members.  We now represent -- we now have several thousand supporters in our efforts, and so we act on behalf of landowners across Canada.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And CAEPLA is an acronym; correct?  

     MR. CORE:  Yes. 

     MR. GOUDY:  What is does it stand for? 

     MR. CORE:  The Canadian Association of Energy and Pipeline Landowner Associations. 

     MR. GOUDY:  I understand that your organization was formerly known as CAPLA?

     MR. CORE:  That's true. 

     MR. GOUDY:  What was that organization? 

     MR. CORE:  That organization was the Canadian Alliance of Pipeline Landowner Associations.

As we increased our support across Canada and people called for us to represent them, we decided we needed to call ourselves something different, because landowners across Canada wanted a voice on more issues than just pipeline, surface rights issues. 

     MR. GOUDY:  And CAEPLA has intervened in this proceeding, jointly with GAPLO-Union Dawn Gateway?  

     MR. CORE:  Yes, we have. 

     MR. GOUDY:  Have you previously appeared as a witness before this Board?  

     MR. CORE:  No.  

     MR. GOUDY:  But I understand you have appeared previously as a witness before the National Energy Board?  

     MR. CORE:  Yes, I have.  

     MR. GOUDY:  In what proceeding did you appear as a witness?

     MR. CORE:  It was the LMCI Stream 3 hearing on abandonment.  

     MR. GOUDY:  And could you tell us a bit about your involvement in the LMCI process? 

     MR. CORE:  Three years ago, I travelled the pipelines across Canada a number of times, and through that process we have organized pipeline landowners across Canada.  In fact, in Manitoba and Saskatchewan, CAEPLA was able to organize landowners on the Enbridge Alberta Clipper and Southern Lights project, 450 landowners in that case, to negotiate a settlement and easement agreement prior to the approval of that pipeline.  

     We were able to address quite a number of issues that are pertinent to landowners, some of them being abandonment, crossing rights, integrity dig agreements, and other issues like that that landowners have been talking about for years, but we couldn't get anybody to listen. 

     In fact, we were able to negotiate, in that process, even agreements and settlements and crossing issues on pipelines that were already in the corridor.  It was precedent-setting.


As a result of that, landowners across Canada, and in particular, western Canada, became very aware of the issues impacting them by pipelines.


As I travelled Canada, it became very obvious that in western Canada, these issues were even -- even more pertinent than they were here in Ontario at that time.


The LMCI actually was created as a result of those efforts of CAEPLA across Canada.  The National Energy Board actually contacted CAEPLA, and I think it was in the fall of 2007, and said:  You know, there's a lot of things happening from a landowner rights perspective and the awareness of landowner issues.  We need to address this somehow, because we were getting -- and I am speaking on behalf of the Board.  They said they were getting a lot of phone calls and interest from landowners.  They said:  What do we need to do?


So actually, we worked with the Board at that point to come up with a process.  We recommended a process that would be a forum to negotiate landowner issues.  The Board did not take our recommendations and came up with the Land Matters Consultation Initiative.


Actually, CAEPLA was not really supportive of that process, because we realized it was going to be a process much like the Board has done for the last 30 years, is to pretend to listen to landowners and never actually do anything.  


And just quickly, I will just mention that the Board on a number of occasions had approached CAEPLA and listened to us.  In fact, even on the crossing issues in the National Energy Board, actually came to Sombra, Ontario to look at heavy equipment on the farm of Ron Kerr.


As a result of that, they actually contacted CEPA and asked CEPA to respond with a description of heavy equipment and blanket approvals to cross pipelines, and CEPA actually refused to do that, saying it was a site-specific issue.  


I am quite surprised that at this hearing we're talking about blanket approvals, when we have never seen a pipeline company give blanket approvals to date.


So at the LMCI process, I actually was on the round table representing CAEPLA, as president of CAEPLA, at the round table discussions leading up to and the ongoing process of the LMCI.


To date, one of the major recommendations or issues identified by the LMCI was intervenor or jurisdictional cost funding.  To date, in 1998, the National Energy Board supported intervenor funding.  The Minister, Anne McLellan, at the time, actually went to Ottawa -- well, was in Ottawa and was supporting intervenor funding, and actually CEPA threatened a lawsuit if the Board moved forward with intervenor funding.


So I want to conclude what I am saying by saying that the LMCI -- I took part in the round table discussions.  We proceeded down the path.  The Board -- travelled the country and identified our issues, but they have done nothing on our issues.


Over the past 20 years, since 1985, the Board has actually changed regulations to the advantage of the industry, to the disadvantage of landowners, without any consultation with landowners to date.


In fact, without some funding for landowner participation, there is no way for us to produce the proper evidence to back up our issues.  On an ongoing basis, we have identified the fact that we need some sort of jurisdictional cost funding.  


They wanted us to take part in damage prevention regulations and maintenance regulations in 2005 and 2007, and we said to them that we were very interested and wanted to, but we could not afford to take part in those processes.


So as of right now, there is little faith in the NEB to address our issues.  Nothing has been addressed yet.  They identified funding as an issue for us, and yet they will provide us no funding to take part in the LMCI process.


When we look at the jurisdictional issue of the Nova application in Alberta, it was very obvious that the NEB does not even enforce things they ask the companies to do.


They actually, in that case before the hearing, told Nova or TransCanada Pipelines to consult with landowners and they refused to.  The Board didn't even make them do it.


As a result of that, landowners in Alberta and across Canada have little faith that the NEB will listen to us and act on our issues.


MR. GOUDY:  Thank you, Mr. Core.


I understand in this proceeding you have filed, as part of the GAPLO evidence, an evidence statement from CAEPLA?


MR. CORE:  Yes.


MR. GOUDY:  Was that statement prepared under your direction?


MR. CORE:  Yes, it was.


MR. GOUDY:  Is it correct, to the best of your knowledge?


MR. CORE:  Yes, it is.


MR. GOUDY:  Do you have any corrections to make to that statement?


MR. CORE:  No, I don't.


MR. GOUDY:  Do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of this proceeding?


MR. CORE:  Yes, I do.


MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.

That is my examination-in-chief, Mr. Chair.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any questions?


MS. WONG:  I have no cross-examination, sir.


MR. KAISER:  All right.  Any questions?


MS. COCHRANE:  Board Staff has no questions of this panel.


MR. THOMPSON:  No thanks.


MR. KAISER:  Mr. Goudy, I wonder if you could just help me with an administrative detail.  I had mentioned earlier with the previous panel that Union, in its material at paragraph 47, had acknowledged that as part of the proposed sale to the joint venture company, Union would seek to assign the land rights that Union obtained for construction and operation of the St. Clair Line.  That is pursuant to the 1988 decision.


Then they attach a schedule 2, which lists different easements.  There are also some franchise agreements, which usually relate to road allowances, and there is some pipe crossing agreement from the CNR, which no doubt relates to the river access.


I would like you to advise us which of those landowners you are representing and if, to your knowledge, the list is accurate.  In other words, this may be a dated list.  It sounds, from the evidence that you have provided a few moments ago, that it needs to be updated.  


So that is with respect to the existing line.  Then there's been a reference in the direct that you have some landowners in your group that would be affected by the new proposed line?


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.


MR. KAISER:  Some 94, or whatever the number is.  If you could give us -- is it possible to give us a detailed list of the landowners that would be affected by the new line that, by way of example, would not be in schedule 2?


MR. GOUDY:  Yes.  We can do that by way of undertaking.  And just to advise you, when the application or notice of intervention was initially filed by GAPLO-Union, we filed with it a listing of the landowners out of the table that is appended to Union's application.


We filed that and were advised that it needed to be refiled so that that listing remained confidential, but my understanding is that listing is filed with the Board as part of our notice of intervention.  We can refile that information as part of this undertaking.


I don't know that there have been any changes to it, but we will make those corrections, if necessary.


MR. KAISER:  Then I note -– this, again, is in paragraph 47 of the Union material -- that some of the parties who have entered into assignments -- or easements, excuse me, are assignable only with consent of the landlord.


They refer to Hydro One, Ontario Power Generation and Canadian National Railway, and they indicate they're going to seek consent of those landowners.  I take it from that they don't require consent of your clients?


MR. VOGEL:  That's correct.


MR. KAISER:  And why is it they require consent of Hydro One and OPG?  Is it part of their statute or something?  Do they have statutory protection?  


MR. VOGEL:  I suspect it is part of their easement agreements with those entities.


MR. KAISER:  You mean they simply negotiated them?


MR. VOGEL:  Yes.


MR. GOUDY:  For instance, if you look back, we filed as part of our evidence a copy of the prefiled evidence of Union on the St. Clair application, and it contains two forms of easement.  One is the general easement that was offered to agricultural landowners, and I suspect it is the form of easement that all of our members have.


There is also a copy of the easement that was entered into with Ontario Hydro.  Not only does it provide for consent to assign, it also provides that Ontario Hydro has the option of having the pipeline removed from the ground.  


I mean, it's -- so I think the assignment consent is something that Ontario Hydro is in a position to negotiate with Union Gas, whereas individual landowners would not be able to.


MR. KAISER:  I think would we would like to see copies of those easements, if you can -- I mean, they may be in the 1988 record floating around, but you probably have greater access to it.


MS. WONG:  They're in the record.  Mr. Goudy was just referring to them, sir.


MR. GOUDY:  The form of easement agreement that was approved by the Board in that application is in the record.  We don't have the actual executed easement agreements, and it is very -- it is fairly difficult for us to obtain it.  

     I think it might be easier -- not that I want to create work for Union Gas, it might be able to get an undertaking from Union. 

     MR. KAISER:  The formal agreement, I imagine, has been followed in all cases.  I don't think we need it.  

     MR. GOUDY:  In that case, it is in the record.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Schedule 12 and 13 to the prefiled 1988 evidence. 

     MR. KAISER:  What about the Hydro One easements? 

     MR. GOUDY:  That is schedule 13. 

     MR. KAISER:  So we have them all?  

     MR. GOUDY:  Yes.  It is attachment 1 to the GAPLO-Union witness statement or evidence statement, which in Exhibit K1.9. 

     MR. KAISER:  I have it here.  

     MR. GOUDY:  All right.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  

     MR. GOUDY:  Thank you.  

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you, gentlemen.  

     [Witness panel withdrew.]  

     MR. KAISER:  With respect to argument, Ms. Wong, I think we said earlier we would proceed with written argument. 

     MS. WONG:  Mm-hmm. 

     MR. KAISER:  Would Monday be pressing you?  

     MS. WONG:  Well, sir, you don't have the answer to the undertakings yet.  I was actually going to ask that we have until Tuesday to give you answers to undertakings.  Do you want the argument at the same time?  

     MR. KAISER:  Well, we're in your hands.  You're the Applicant.  You know the urgency, if any.  

     MS. WONG:  My preference, sir, would be to give you the answers to undertakings by Tuesday and the argument by Friday of next week.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  What about the intervenors in terms of responding?  Mr. Vogel?  

     MR. VOGEL:  I do have a small problem, in that I am out of the province.  I am back the week of the 13th.  So if I had to the 17th of July, the Friday of that week, that would be my request in the best of all worlds.  But if you need something earlier than that -- 

     MR. KAISER:  Ms. Wong, is that okay with you?  

     MS. WONG:  I am trying to get a sense of the timing there.  So I would deliver on, I believe, the 3rd of July, which is the Friday.  You would have until the 17th?  

     MR. VOGEL:  Correct.  

     MS. WONG:  In that case, I was wondering if I could get until the Monday just to give me that extra weekend. 

     MR. KAISER:  I am sure Mr. Vogel won't mind. 

     MR. VOGEL:  I have no problem with that. 

     MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thompson, is that okay with you?  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sir. 

     MS. WONG:  I would have until whatever the date is, Ontario Monday, which I believe is the 8th or 7th something along those lines. 

     MR. VOGEL:  6th. 

     MS. WONG:  6th, okay, and you would have until the 17th. 

     MR. KAISER:  When would Board Counsel be filing argument, if any?  Do you have any thoughts?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  We could -- assuming all of the other intervenors are going to be filing by July 17, I would ask for the same, or would you prefer Board Staff's submissions earlier?

     MR. THOMPSON:  I would prefer it earlier, preceding the intervenors.  

     MR. KAISER:  I think that would make sense.  Can you precede the intervenors by a week?  

     MS. COCHRANE:  That would take us to the 10th.  I think I would like a week from the time that we receive the argument in-chief.  So that's the 6th, so the 13th.  

     MR. KAISER:  Then the intervenors on the 17th, did I hear?  That should work.  

     MS. WONG:  Could we set aside a right of reply, in case I need one?  

     MR. KAISER:  Certainly. 

     MS. WONG:  So if I could have a week from the 17th, the 24th. 

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  

     MS. WONG:  Thank you. 

     MR. KAISER:  When do you need this decision by?  

     MS. WONG:  I don't believe there is any particular urgency, but let me just check with my client, please. 

     MR. KAISER:  I only say that because we may have some Board Members away in August.  

     MS. WONG:  I am advised, sir, that if we could get a decision by mid-September, Union would be content.  

     MR. KAISER:  All right.  Let's proceed on that basis.  

     MR. VOGEL:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair. 

     MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:20 p.m.
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